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Mr. Speaker: I now call this llousr to order 
\\'P will proceed wit h morning prayers. 

, /'royer.~, 

Mr. Speaker: We will proceed at this time with the 
Ordrr Paper . 

HOUTINE PROCEEDINGS 

Mr. Speaker: Are there any documents for tabling 
this morning? 

TABLING OF DOCUMENTS 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from 
\\'hitehorse West. 

lion. Mrs. Whyard: Mr. Speaker. I would like to 
t<1ble a Legislati ve Return in response to Ms. Millard's 
resolution concerning the care and wel l-being of our 
senior citizens. 

Mr. Speaker: Are there any other further docu-
ments for tab! ing this morning? 

Are there any reports of Committees? 
Petitions? Introduction of Bi l ls? 
Any Notices of Motion for the Production of Papers? 
Any Notices of Motion or Resolution? 

NOTICES OF MOTION 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from 
Kluane? 

Mrs. Watson: Yes. Mr. Speaker . I give Notice of 
Motion. seconded by the Honourable Member from 
Riverdale. tha t the White Papers on Standard Mileage 
Rate and the Territorial Lands Policy and the Green 
Papers on Land Rental Rates and Highway Information 
Signs be referred to the Committee of the Whole for 
further consideration. 

Mr. Speaker: Are there any further Notices of Mo­
t ion or Resolution? 

Any Statements by Ministers? 
This brings us to the Question Period. Have you any 

questions? 

QUESTION PERIOD 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Minister of Educa­
tion. 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Speaker, on March 7th. 1977. 
Mr. Lengerke asked a question relating to the Yukon 
Teacher's Association's evidence at the National 
Energy Board Hearing. The question was. did the YTA 
suggest or testify that we do not have a recognized De­
partment of Education or education system? Please 
clarify if in fact the statement was adhered to by the 230 
odd teachers that belong to the Association and was the 
brief an official document of that Association? Was it 
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tabled at a meeting and did all Members agree to it? 
Also. pef"laining to the same evidence given at the 

National Energy Board hearing. Mrs. Watson asked the 
following question. Was the Minister aware of the statis­
tics regarding enrollment. size of facilities were er­
roneous. were these statistics obtained from the De­
partment of Education before they prepared their 
brief? 

The answer is as follows: Before it can be determined 
whether in fact the statements alleged to have been 
made by the YTA !'<!presentative at the NEB hearing 
were in fact made. the transcript of the hearings would 
have to be studied. Such a transcript, in all likelihood 
would not be available for approximately a month. 

However. in the meantime the president of the YTA. 
Mr. Fred Smith. and the person who appeared in front of 
the National Energy Board. Mr. Gerry Romanchuk. 
.were contacted. The information provided by these two 
sources indicated that the document was accepted by 
the executive of the Yukon Teachers Association. Mr. 
Romanchuk denied hav ing made any remarks that he. 
or the YT A. considered the Department of Education or 
the Yukon Educat ion System to be inferior or not recog­
nized. 

Mr. Romanchuk's statistics were not obtained from 
the Department of Education but he did admit to mak­
ing an error. when reading the pupil statistics in rela­
tion to one or some of the rural schools. 

He did suggest that his point was that a rapid increase 
in the transient student popu lation would cause the De­
partment to utilize portable classrooms which. in his 
opinion. were less desirable than permanent structures. 

Until the transc•·irts0f the hearing are available. the 
above information is all that can be provided. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from 
Kluane. 

Question re: Answer to question No. 14 

Mrs. Watson: Yes. Mr. Speaker. I have a question 
for the Minister of Local Government. When can we 
expect an answer to my question. Number 14. regarding 
the Building Permit? 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member of Local 
Government. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I don' t know 
the answer to the Honourable Member's question. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honour able Member from 
Kluane? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Speaker . will the Minister deter­
mine when and let us know at the next sitting of this 
House? 

Mr. Speaker : The Honourable Member of Local 
Government? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes, Mr. Speaker. I would be 
most happy to do that. 

Mr. Speaker: Are there any further questions? The 
Honourable Member from Whitehorse South Centre. 



Question re: Road into Howard Pass 

Mr. Hibberd: Yes, Mr. Speaker. I have a question 
for perhaps the Minister in charge of Highways or for 
the Assistant Commissioner. Are there any plans for 
building a road into the Howard Pass area. particularly 
with reference to this year? 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Minister of Local 
Government? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman. I have to take 
that question as notice. 

Mr. Speaker: Are there any further quest ions? We 
will then proceed to Orders of the Day. Motions? 

ORDERS OF THE DAY 

MOTIONS 

Item Number 1 

Madam Clerk: Item 1, standing in the name of the 
Honourable Member, Mrs. Watson. 

Mr. Speaker: Is the Honourable Member prepared 
to discuss Item Number 1? 

Mrs. Watson: Yes, Mr. Speaker. 

Mr. Speaker: It has been moved by the Honourable 
Member from Kluane, seconded by the Honourable 
Member from Whitehorse Riverdale , that this House 
respectfully requests the Minister of Indian Affairs and 
Northern Development, the Honourable Warren All­
mand to accede without delay to reques ts of the Gov­
ernment of the Yukon for block transfers of land re­
quired for the development of established communities 
within the Yukon. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from 
Klua ne? 

Mrs. Watsun: Yes, Mr. Speaker, I think the Honour­
able Member who represents the Dawson area and my­
self, are fully aware of the need for this resolution a nd 
the need for the res t of the Members of the House to 
consider giving support to this resolution. 

And as the Minister of Local Government said yester­
day, it may only be Dawson City and Haines Junction 
who are affected by the lack of land for further expan­
s ion and development but it could well be that other 
communities in the Yukon could be faced with the same 
problem within the next year , or two years. 

Mr. Speaker, the community I am living in is faced 
with a very specific problem. The land that is required 
for expansion and not for speculative expansion but for 
expansion where there is a need, is now held in the name 
of the Crown. And our government, the territorial gov­
ernment has applied to have a block transfer of this 
section turned over to the territorial government so 
they could develop it for the use , so that people in the 
community or people in the Yukon, would be able to use 
this land on which to build homes and possibly even to 
establish businesses or small industry. 
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I think. Mr. Speaker. I can truthfully say that we ha\'C 
been waiting for a year now and the Minister of Ind ian 
Affairs and Northern Development and hi~ officers. 
have clearly not made the decision on thf' Yukon 
government's request. I am informed, and I can well 
understand. that they have not made a decision because 
of the land claim and the Indian land claim settlement. 

Mr. Speaker, I respect their recognition of this com· 
mitment that they have made. but Mr. Speaker. 1 also 
maintain that the Minister of Indian Affairs is not only 
the Minister of Indian Affairs but he is also the Minister 
of Northern Development. and Mr. Speaker. he has an 
obligation. not to hold up one in order to carry out hii' 
functions in the other. 

And when you're looking at such a small portion of 
land. as these various communities requ ire. and when 
you are looking at the vast land available in the Yukon 
Territory, and when you're looking at the resources ot 
the federal government by which they could compcn· 
sate someone who is laying a claim to a part of that land. 
it seems absolutely ridiculous that no decision is being 
made and that communities are not being allowed to 
develop or expand. And that the government of the Tcr· 
ritory. our government. is impeded from being able to 
supply the land that the people rPquire. 

I would hope, Mr. Speaker. that everyone in this 
House considers this motion very seriously. because it 
is a very serious motion. It has many ramifications for 
the people of the territory and I would hope that every 
Member finds himself capable to support the motion. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member fror 
Whitehorse Riverdale. 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes. Mr. Speaker. I certainly sup­
port the motion. as indicated by being the seconder of it. 
I think that it's a very, very important motion. The 
action that we request is key, it's essentia l. it's an in­
tegral part of a realistic land policy for Yukon. I think 
that what we're requesting is full control hy direct land 
transfer. We must have this. It cannot just be done 
through a -- I know we have relations with the federa l 
government in a consultative process with respect to 
the dealing and planning for land and the devdopment. 
but, Mr. Speaker, I cannot but emphasize the fact that if 
you had land under your own control, that then you can 
come up with realistic policies. 

And, as I say, this is only but one part of a very com­
plex question with respect to lands, that we must make 
some gains on it and I would hope that all Members wi ll 
agree and will support the motion. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from 
Whitehorse North Centre. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Speaker. I just want to 
thank the Honourable Members for their motion. I don't 
say that I need all the help I can get on these issues and 
s imilar land issues, and I sincerely hope that we're 
going to find an answer to this dilemma and that we wi ll 
see the development and expansion that is necessary in 
the Haines Junction area taking place th isSummer, 
through the motion and through various other method~ 
which already are in progress to see the block Jar 
transfer of land in the Haines Junction area and in othe. 
areas . 

) 
( 

) 



And. you know. irs rather amazing when I hear the 
total scuttlebutt abou t the lack of land pol icy in the 
terntorial government when you're facing the difficul­
ties of the block land transfers and you're facing the 
problems of mining n ghts on territorial block land 
tr<.~nsfers. Ithmk we do one hell of a good job in the 371.6 
miles of land that we have to develop and have to offer 
and we would do a better job if we had more land on 
which to develop. Mr. Speaker. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from Ogil­
Vie. 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Speaker. I cannot support this mo­
tiOn . 1t seems to me that this motion is pretty typical of 
the terr itorial government's attitude towards land 
elaims. I feel thatto accede without delay, to request the 
Mmister to proceed without delay to requests of the 
government of block transfers of land is just interfering 
with negotiations with the planning that's already in 
process. 

I can't see why the motion can't read that we should 
have discussions at the planning council for this, that it 
should have some priority, anythong along this line, but 
I think that we are just, again, ignoring a fact that's 
right in front of us. There is the land claims negotiations 
going on. We must start organizing ourselves to cooper­
ate with this system that is already a fact. 

I am proud to say that the City of Dawson has, after it 
had its referendum to decide whether or not to expand 
its boundaries, and it was turned down , has realized that 
they are -- that the whole process has to be done in 
cooperation and a motion just passed in the last month 
or two by them, states that discussions will take place 
with the Indian organizations concerning expanding 
into the Tailings area for their industrial area. And I 
think that we should follow that lead. 

I think that it's time that we took reality into perspec­
tive around here and realized that the Indian people are 
in the Territory, they are trying to cooperate with them 
and this is one of the means by which we could do it. 

I don ' t know when we are going to start being mature 
around here and realize that we represent native peo­
ple. 

Mr. Speaker: Is there any further debate? 
The Honourable Member from Hootalinqua? 

Mr. Fleming: Yes, Mr. Speaker, I support this re­
solution, I can't agree this time with the Member on my 
right. She has some good points but the fact remains 
that we are all here in the Yukon and there are people 
here in the Yukon who at this time, due to the federal 
bureaucracy, cannot obtain a place to live, as 1 have 
said in this House before. And I think it is time -- this 
motion will, in effect, if it is listened to by the Minister, 
give us the opportunity to possibly give these people 
some right, as Canadian citizens, to a place to live. 

I don't think this really interferes with the native 
problem. 1 realize their problem and 1 am one hundred 
per cent behind them; however , lhe Federal Govern­
ment has lots of land, as we know, in the Yukon, and the 
native people have land in the Yukon, because they are 
not deprived of that land at any time now. I am sure they 
can go and build a house anywhere in the Yukon at this 
time and have no problem whatsoever, or have any 
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worries of anybody taking them away from that land, 
and this motion, Mr. Speaker, just is a motion to give 
also other Canadian citizens in this Territory a chance 
to obtain that same right. 

I will be voting for the motion, Mr. Speaker. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from 
Whitehorse Porter Creek. 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Speaker, I rise in support of the 
motion. As the Honourable Member from Kluane and 
the Minister of Local Government have said, it 's a very 
important motion in relation to the development of the 
Yukon. 

I, personally, as part of this Government, cannot ac­
cept the allegations made by the Member from Ogilvie. 
I know the Minister of Local Government has done ev­
erything he possibly can to co-operate with the native 
organizations and up to this point, to my knowledge, has 
not been successful. 

I would like to point out that co-operate 's a two-way 
street , not a one-way street. Also, I think it's very im­
portant in the Haines Junction area that the block land 
transfer does come about because we do know that there 
is major development in the offing in that particular 
area, with the highway development, which is going to 
bring a certain influx of people. It's my understanding, 
at the same time, that there could be a major construc­
tion on behalf of Parks Canada in relation to a new 
building which will also bring more people to the com­
munity of Haines Junction. 

And I think it's time, Mr. Speaker, that the Minister of 
Indian Affairs and Northern Developm£:nt recognizes 
the fact that there are Canadians, native Canadians and 
non-native Canadians in the Yukon, who want to 
prosper in the Yukon and the only way that we are going 
to prosper is to have land available for people to build 
and make their homes, so that we can make the Yukon a 
better place to live. 

Mr. Speaker: The Honourable Member from Klon­
dike. 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Speaker, I rise in support of this 
motion. I would like to point out to the Honourable 
Member of Ogilvie that, especially the Dawson area, it 
is not only the Indian claim involved in this thing but 
also the mining has priorities to any City expansion and 
the whole valley was talked about- the expansion that is 
supposed to take place is staked right now. The staked 
ground and mining in the eyes of the Minister of North­
ern Affairs has priority and I don't think that it is right to 
hold up the progress and the expansion of a City. 

I tb.ink the people in Whitehorse realize that, with the 
mining claims right in the City, and I can see no reason 
for this House not to support this motion. 

Mr. Speaker: Is there any further debate? The Hon­
ourable Member from Kluane. 

. Mrs. Watson: Mr. Speaker, I am very grateful for 
some of the support that has been expressed in the 
House and I also understand the concerns of the Hon­
ourable Member from Ogilvie, but I think that all things 
have to be taken in their proper perspectives and I think 
that we also must consider that, even while the land 



claims negotiations are in progress. other people must 
also be given the right to live. to build homes. to have job 
opportunities. to establish businesses. 

If we put an absolute m0ritorium on everything. we 
are depriving these people of that right and it is a very 
narrow line. I think we have to be extremely cautious 
not to deprive one at the expense of the other. so. Mr. 
Speaker, I am certainly hopeful and very grateful for 
the support that has been expressed this morning. 

Mr. Speaker: Are you prepared for the question? 

Some Members : Question. 

Mr. Speaker: Are you agreed? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Speaker: I shall declare that the motion is car­
ried. 

1 Motion carried ! 

Mr. Speaker: This brings us to the end of the Order 
Paper. May I have your pleasure? The Honourable 
Member from Pelly? 

Mr. McCall: I do now move that Mr. Speaker now 
leave the Chair , the House resolve in the Committee of 
the Whole. 

Mr. Speaker: A seconder? 

Mr. Fleming: I will second that, Mr. Speaker. 

Mr. Speaker: It has been moved by the Honourable 
Member from Pelly River and seconded by the Honour­
able Member from Hootalinqua that Mr. Speaker now 
leave the Chair and the House resolve into the Commit­
tee of the Whole. Are you prepared for the question? 

Some Members: Question. 

Mr. Speaker: Are you agreed? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Speaker: I do declare that the motion is carried. 

(Motion carried) 

1 Mr. Speaker leaves Chair) 

COMMITIEE OF THE WHOLE 

Mr. Chairman: I shall call Committee to order and 
declare a brief recess. 

(Recess ) 

Mr. Chairman: I now call this Committee to order, 
As for our agenda, I would like to complete the ad­

journed debate on Motion 18, or Resolution Number 10, 
and then proceed to Vote 9, and perhaps this afternoon 
we'll be able to get into the Recreation Development 
Ordinance. 
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Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Chairman: We have now before U!> Hesolution 
Number 10. as amendt-d. I believe there were further 
amendments being considered. 

Mr. Lang ? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Chairman. I would like to move 
that Resolution Number 10 have the following words 
added. "THAT the report prepared by the Social­
Economic Planning Unit be tabled in this House ... Sec­
onded by the Honourable Member from Whitehorse 
West. 

Mrs. Watson: Possibly. before you read it. we could 
give consideration to having "at the Fall Session" 
added. Here we go again~ 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lang? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Chairman. I didn 't include it in 
the resolution, but I take it that that would be prepa red 
for the Fall Session. 

Mr. Chairman: Are you concurring that this is part 
of your amendment? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Fine, Mr. Cha irman. 

Mr. Chairman: The amendment reads as follows: 
"It has been moved by Mr. Lang, seconded by Mrs. 
Whyard, that amended Resolution Number 10 have the 
following words added: 'That the report prepared by 
the Socio-Economic Planning Unit be tabled in this 
House for the Fall Session'. " 

Are you ready for the question ? 

Some Members: Question. 

Mr. Chairman: Are you agreed? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

1 Motion carried) 

Mr. Chairman: The motion , as amended, now 
reads: "THAT WHEREAS a unique opportunity exists 
for the strengthening and stabilizing of Yukon's 
economic future, BE IT RESOLVED that this House 
recommends to the Yukon Territorial Government that 
the Socio-Economic Planning Unit examine in detail the 
feasibility and appraise the economic benefits of 
legalized gambling in Yukon, and in particular the 
question of full-time commercially-operated enter­
prises in the City of Dawson and seasonally-operated 
enterprises within other appropriate areas of Yukon, 
AND THAT the report prepared by the Socio-Economic 
Planning Unit be tabled in this House for the Fall Ses-
sion." · 

Are you ready for the question? 

Some Members: Question. 

Mr. Chairman: Are you agreed? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

{ 

( ) 

() 



Mr. Chairman : I shal I declare tlw motion is carried . 

' Motum earned ' 

Mr. Chairman: We will go on to consideration of 
\"ole Number 9. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon ? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman. having had the 
portfolio responsibiliti es for highways and public works 
for only a two-month period . I don't have lengthy re­
marks to make in introduction of this vote, but I do have 
a few opening remarks . if Committee will agree. on 
hig hways and public works. 

Mr. Chairman: Please carry on. Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman , I have copies 
for distribution. Mr. Chairman , the Department of 
Highways and Publlc Works is the Territory's largest 
department in terms of 0 and M expenditure and it also 
generates the greatest amount of dollars and recoveries 
from various federal agencies. 

The department is responsible for a number of ac­
tivities, but highway maintenance is by far the most 
important service provided by the department to the 
residents of Yukon and also to Yukon visitors from 
whom businesses receive considerable cash support. 

In the past year, a decrease in highway traffic was 
evident on most roads. On the other hand, increases 
were noted on the Haines and Atlin roads, and the Daw­
son Ferry experienced an increase of 6,200 vehicles over 
the '75 operating season. 

In the '76 fiscal year, the level of spending for territor­
ial roads and emergency airstrips was held down to '75 
levels and this action led to a decrease in maintenance. 
Complaints were received with respect to the Atlin 
Road but generally the public accepted the standard of 
maintenance the department was able to produce with 
restricted funding. 

Building maintenance was another activity which 
suffered under 1976 fiscal restraints. There was no gen­
eral repainting program undertaken anywhere in the 
Territory. And other building maintenance was cut to 
st~y within financial targets. Fortunately, the mild 
wmter that we have had the good fortune to experience 
has helped by reducing the number of building freeze­
ups and similar problems, but in spite of this advantage 
we found that building maintenance expenditure was 
greater than the amount provided in the '76-'77 esti­
mates. 

Although there were slight reductions in the '76 esti­
mates for those roads falling under the Engineering 
~ervices Agreement, the Dust Control Program, which 
IS of great benefit to Yukon travellers, continued. 

The Departmental staff efficiently carried out the ap­
plication of the dust palliative and savings of approxi­
mately $150,000.00 were achieved as compared with 
prior years of application by contract. 

In the fall of 1976, the responsibility for maintenance 
of a further 59 miles of the Dempster Highway was 
accepted by the Territory. And to assist in mainte­
nance, a temporary highway camp was established at 
Mile 179. We expect that this camp will be taken out of 
service when a permanent facility is built near the 
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Eagle River sometime in the future . 
In the summer of 1976, a new dust palliative of emul­

sified asphalt was applied over a six-mile section 
through the Village of Teslin. Although this type is 
somewhat more expensive than calcium chloride, we 
are led to believe that it should have a greater life and 
should also be easier to maintain , therefore its annual 
cost should be less. We will require a few years of ex­
perience with this product before definite conclusions 
can be reached . 

Work on the Haines Road was undertaken to minimize 
snow-drifting and this winter's experience proved this 
work to be beneficial. Some minor curve and grad 
easements were completed on the Alaska Highway, 
with the most significant improvement on the bad grad 
at the Johnson's Crossing Hill. As of this date, there 
have been no major traffic accidents at this location , 
whereas in past years the winter months usually were 
fraught with bad accidents, some of which unfortu­
nately were fatal. 

In co-operation with Canada Transport under the Arc­
tic "B" and "C" Airports Program, airport works at 
Dawson , Mayo and Faro were completed, at an approx­
imate cost of $400,000.00, which amount also includes 
the upgrading and paving of a portion of the airport road 
at Watson Lake. Of great importance to the people liv­
ing in the Town of Faro was the installation of an 
emergency runway lighting kit which now permits 
night-time medical evacuation flights - a great im­
provement over the car-lighted strip which has been 
used in past years. No doubt also the provision of a 
passenger/cargo shelter at Faro will also be greatly 
appreciated by air travellers to that community. In line 
with the Arctic Airports Policy, the Town of Faro has 
agreed to undertake the operation of the airport on our 
behalf, and this is the first Yukon community in our 
history that has become directly involved in community 
airport operations. It is a further indication of the 
maturity that is being exhibited by local governments in 
accepting a greater degree of responsibility in those 
matters which have a bearing on the quality of life now 
being offered to the Yukon's residents. 

During the 1976 fiscal year, the Campbell Highway 
was paved between Watson Lake and the Watson Lake 
airport; $361,000.00 was spent on bridge replacements 
on the Nahanni Range Road ; crushing and stockpiling 
of aggregate for future paving on the Klondike Highway 
was completed; tenders were called for the reconstruc­
tion of the first 25 miles of the Dempster Highway and a 
contract was awarded to Majestic Wiley for start-up in 
1977. All of this highway construction work was funded 
by the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs 
under the terms of the Engineering Services Agree­
ment. 

In the new fiscal year, the operation and maintenance 
budget reflects the inflationary costs being experienced 
by all segments of the economy. The Highway Mainte­
nance program will remain basically the same as last 
year ; however, in recognition of the concerns of high­
way users, the budget does include an additional 
amount of 250,000 dollars which is earmarked for im­
proving the standard of maintenance on certain roads 
and in particular the Atlin Road. No doubt this will be 
welcomed by our neighbours in northern British Col­
umbia and all those Yukon residents who travel on busi­
ness and pleasure to Atlin. 



The Dust Control Program will continue by the appli­
cation of calcium chloride on 896 miles of the m<Jjor 
highways and the emulsified asphalt test program will 
be extended to two new sections of the Alaska Highway 
between WatsJn Lake and Teslin . Improvements at cer­
ta in congested intersections on the Alaska Highway 
north of Whitehorse will be undertaken in order to speed 
traffic flow and to improve traffic safety. 

This year will see the implementation of the highway 
and equipment maintenance system which has been 
under development for the past year in co-operation 
with the Department of Indian and Northern Affairs. 
The system's approach to highway maintenance will 
provide a more realistic method of determining 
maintenance standards and consequently the number 
of dollars required to achieve the proper end result. 
Work activities, work quantity standards , men and 
equipment distribution to each work activity - all have 
been examined and costed out to determine this year 's 
level of service in highway maintenance. We are con­
stantly striving to improve the highway system and we 
hope that, by improving management techniques, 
Yukoners will see better value for their tax dollars . 

I might add , Mr. Chairman, that the consultant who 
prepared the new system of highway equipment 
maintenance is presently in Yukon, in Whitehorse, and I 
have approached him to appear before Committee if 
Members have questions concerning the standards for 
road maintenance and the reason at which they were 
arr ived at. And he will be here at Members ' conveni­
ence if they so request. 

In the building maintenance area , I'm happy to report 
that the program of building repainting has been re­
instituted in this year's estimates and $100 ,000.00 has 
been allocated to this important part of building 
maintenance. Provision has a lso been made to catch up 
on work which was set aside in the last fiscal year be­
cause of finapcial restraints, therefore the level of ser­
vice to other departments should be greatly improved in 
the coming year. 

The approved capital expenditures for the Depart­
ment of Highways and Public Works is relatively mod­
est this fiscal year. A large portion of the 1.89 million 
allocated to this department will be spent in the con­
struction and equipping of a new highway maintenance 
camp on the Carcross-Skagway Road. This facility will 
include employee accommodation and office space for 
Canada Customs (which, to please one of the Honour­
bale Members, will have public washrooms! ) ... 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: Hear, hear, hear , hear! -Hon. Mr. McKinnon: 
This project illustrates the cooperative attitude of this 
government to federal agencies to achieve the best 
value for the tax dollar by eliminating as much duplica­
tion as is possible in the provision of building space. 

The Town of Faro made representations last year for 
us to classify the road to Blind Creek as a recreation 
road and to undertake upgrading. I am pleased to report 
to the Htmourable Member from Pelly that his rep­
resentations and the representations of the Town of 
Faro have been acceded to and funds for this purpose 
have been included in the item for Recreation Roads. 

There is no provision, Mr. Chairman, in this budget 
presentation for capital works which fall under the Arc-
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tic Airports Program or the Eng ineering Services Ag­
reement. Approval for various projects. which are 100 
per cent recoverable. has not yet been received and 
consequently it is impossible for me to tell you what 
airport or highway improvements will take place this 
summer. However, there is no doubt that some work 
will proceed and this will be properly reported at sup­
plementary estimate time later in the year. 

Subsequent to the preparation of these remarks . Mr. 
Chairman, we have received word from the people in 
Ottawa, I think they're the Northern Roads Committee. 
that certain author izations have been arproved under 
the Engineering Services Agreement for the following 
year. It includes Klondike Highway paving, Mile 94 to 
104 , through Carmacks, the Nahanni Range Road, some 
structure replacement, surveys of future roads. some 
miscellaneous minor projects, the reconstruction of the 
Dempster Highway from Mile 0 to 25, and culverts on 
the Dempster Highway from Mile 25 to 42.7. 

I believe, Mr. Chairman , that we will probably have to 
handle these through a separate money vote and a sup­
plementary estimate, which I hope can be prepared for 
Members before this Session prorogues. 

Mr. Chairman: Establishment 900, Administration, 
$790,700.00. 

Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I was very interested 
in the comments on Page 3, the bottom of the page, the 
implementation of the highway and equipment mainte­
nance systems. The standards for maintenance and 
then the various components, which are costed to those 
standards and I'm wondering whether if the person who 
has prepared the structure or the mechanism that the 
territorial government wants to use, whether it would 
be advantageous for us, to have him as a witness and 
then would be much easier for us to consider the esti­
mates, because he would be explaining at that time, I 
would hope, the breakdown of the various components 
of the various standards of highways. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I have no ob­
jection to that whatsoever. I only think that he is work­
ing under the Director of Highways and if he is here, the 
Director of Public Works should also be present. 

Mr. Chairman: Is it the Committee's wish that we 
have them appear as witnesses? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, it might make it much 
easier for us to get through the vote if we have the 
witness here. Mr. Chairman , I am not suggesting that 
we have the witness as we go through the vote. I would 
suggest that we have the witness to make a presentation 
so that we can question him. Then it would be much 
easier for us to get through the vote and not waste too 
much time repeating our questions. 

Mr. Chairman: Is it the Committee's wish that we 
have these gentlemen appear as witnesses at this time, I 
understand before we consider Vote 9? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

( 

( ) 
( 

( ) 



Mr. Lengerke: With respect to the witness. is he 
available now or is there going to be some delay in 
getting him ? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman. apparently he 
is in Whitehorse at the present time. There is a fore· 
mans' seminar presently going on that he is presenting 
his information to. Whether he is on tap there a t the 
present moment or not, I don ' t know but we can find that 
out. I think that we could continue with the vote until he 
is ava ilable, but he has stated that he would be ava ilable 
for Committee when they so desire. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: I think that would -- certainly, I 
would hope that Committee would agree to that. we 
could certainly proceed with a number of sections under 
this. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman, I am just trying to fig­
ure out whether my question should be to the witness or 
just-- it is a general question on the standard of services 
that are being presented because the man years are 
considerably lowered in this whole Vote and it worries 
me that maybe either-- first of a ll , that we may have 
been over man yea red before or now we are being under 
1an yeared. I don 't have the assurance that we are 

ally getting the level of services that we may need. 
I would like some assurance on that. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: That is exactly the type of 
question I think that should be directed to the witness. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, may I ask a general 
question from the paper that was presented? 

Mr. Chairman: Yes. 

Mrs. Watson : Mr. Chairman, on page three, I am 
rather curious at the improvements at certain con­
gested intersections on the Alaska Highway North of 
Whitehorse. It will be undertaken in order to speed traf­
fic flow. I was wondering if the Minister could explain a 
little bit more fully that section? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I am sorry that 
the Honourable Member from Porter Creek is not here 
because he has been very active in his representation 
about the inter sections leading off the Alaska Highway, 
both lighting and danger wise, leading into the area 
which he represents. There has also been great prob­
lems in traffic flow north of the City of Whitehorse in the 
Kopper King area as far as a passing lane is concerned. 
It is the Department's intention to provide a passing 
lane in that area and also upgrade the turnoffs into the 
Porter Creek area and improve the lighting situation. 
.,, e have received permission now that we will be funded 

part of the lighting from Whitehorse North to Porter 
eek from Mcintyre Creek on. 
I think there is a misconception that the YTG is re­

sponsible for the lighting for the Alaska Highway. If 
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such was the case, we would be liable for the total costs 
of lighting the highway from Hillcrest through Porter 
Creek, which is what the Municipality of the City of 
Whitehorse wants. We have had to go and get funding 
for any of the lighting that we have been able to put 
presently on, under the Engineering Services Agree­
ment. 

We have a portion of it agreed to in this fiscal year and 
we will have to go back to try and get further funding in 
future fiscal years for further lighting on the Alaska 
Highway. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, I don 't want to nit­
pick but it says here " improvements at certain con­
gested intersections on the Alaska Highway north of 
Whitehorse will be undertaken in order to speed traffic 
flow and improve traffic safety" and the Honourable 
Minister has just mentioned improvements that take 
place on the Alaska Highway within Whitehorse. Is Por­
ter Creek not in Whitehorse? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : Some of the officers in the De­
partment of Engineering have not accepted boundary 
expansion up to this point in time, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, on page 2 where it 
states that you will be building a maintenance camp on 
the nr.w road, Carcross/Skagway, I am just wondering, 
do you know the location that that camp will be built at 
now? Is it in Carcross or is it directly on the border? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, it will be at 
Fraser. 

Hon. Mr. Taylor : Yes , Mr. Chairman, just one ques­
tion generally on the Budget Address given by the Hon­
ourable Minister. At the conclusion of his address, he 
suggested that the federal government has, in addition 
to what we find in our budget, approved certain other 
expenditures and one of them was surveys for future 
roads. I am wondering if the Honourable Minister has 
any inf~rmation as to what roads will be surveyed? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, a telex came in 
just the other day and I haven't had an opportunity yet 
to find out just exactly what the projects are that have 
been agreed to under the Engineering Services Ag­
reementat this time. I thought it would be necessary and 
I wanted to bring it to the attention of the House as soon 
as I possibly could, that certain projects had been ap­
proved for this fiscal year. 

I will find out that information as soon as I can. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, also from the 
paper there, since there was an increase of 6,200 vehi­
cles on the Dawson Ferry, I was wondering if there is 
enough traffic on the Stewart Crossing/Dawson road at 
the present time to warrant dust control programs 
there? 



Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Interestingly enough . there 
has been an increase in ferry traffic but a decrease in 
passenger traffic on the Dawson Highway . Our present 
negotiations with the Engineering Services Agreement 
are that we need ·1 250 vehicle per day count before they 
wi ll share under the Engineering Services Agreement 
in dust control and we are nowhere near that magic 
number where we get the costs paid under the Engineer­
ing Services i grecment by the federal government. 

You know. 1L is like the CBC saying that if you a re 
under 500. you d<~n't get television, you pay your own 
shot if it dG<!sn't come up to that number. It would be 
impossible for the government of Yukon Territory to 
underwrite the cost of dust control on the total Klondike 
Highway so we have to get up to that number before we 
fa ll under the Engineering Services Agreement. that 
they will pay for dust control on that road. 

We'll have some advantages this year with paving of a 
ten mile stretch through the Carmacks area and also. 
because of surface conditions, we intend to do some dust 
control out of Stewart Crossing for about 15 miles nor th 
of the Stewart Crossing area. 

Other than that dust control which we will be respon­
sible for on our own hook, with the traffic count as it is . 
we can' t get monies under the Engineering Services 
Agreement for dust control on the Klondike Highway to 
this point in time. 

Mr. Chairman: I draw Committee 's attention to the 
fact that we now have Mr. Richard Ciceri, Project Man­
ager of Roy Jorgensen and Associates , and Mr. Ken 
Baker, Director of Highways and Public Works with us 
as witnesses. ' 

Ms. Millard ? 

Ms. Millard: Just further to the question from the 
Member from Klondike. There was some discussion 
previously of the count being taken in the shoulder 
months of the summer, r a ther th:-n the most intensive 
period. Has there been any change in this? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, the counts 
taken at the McQuesten Bridge, June to August, 1972 , 
showed a da ily average count of 393 vehicles. In 1973 , 
from May to September, not shoulder months, showed a 
drop to 239 vehicles. In April to September, in 1974, a 
further drop to 223 vehicles on a daily average. In 1975, 
from May to October, a daily average count of 182 vehi­
cles per day and from May to September, in 1976, a 
further drop to only 162 vehicles per day. So these are 
taken in the prime months of traffic on the Klondike 
Highway and unless the counter's wrong, these are the 
actual figures of the daily traffic on that road. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms_. Millard: Well, Mr. Chairman, I think thatjust-­
I believe the count was supposed to be 250, you say? 
June, July and August, there's an average of 393 and , of 
course, those are the three months --

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : That was in '72. In '76, there 
were 162. 

Ms. Millard: Yes, Mr. Chairman, this was what the 
argument was, was that the months are being stretched 
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to the point that -- the three months of very act1 ve trC:If­
fic. when there are most accidents and there C:l re most 
people on the road. have been proven. maybe it was 
1972. but I think the request was made previously that 
those months. those concentrated months be looked a t . 
Obviously. the criterion-- is it not set by ourselves. or is 
it-- and is there any way that we can have some input 
into maybe taking a look at those three separate months 
as being more important and therefore may deserve 
some consideration. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr . ChC:I irman. the criterion of 
the E ngineering Services Agr eement are with the 
guide lines. as the Director of Highways has informed 
me. is a 250 per day vehicle count over a 12 month 
average and that is the criteria and that ·s the gu ide I ines 
that are set before the federal government will cost­
share or wi ll pay the cost of dust control on the Yukon 
highways. 

You know, we can argue when we go to have another 
Engineering Services Agreement. that it could be low­
ered or not , but that's the only input that we can have. 
They're just not will ing to cost-share unless that aver­
age is reached . It will be our total cost of YTG , if the 
federal government does not share until that magic fig­
ure of 250 per day average is reached. 

Ms. Millard: J ust a supplementary to that. Mr. 
Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Mill ard? f 

Ms. Millard: What I am asking is, have we a rgued ? 
You know, have we actually put our case forward to that 
extent because I think it is a very serious situation . If 
there is any possibility of change, I think that we should 
make the effort to do so. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, I think I s tood up here 
last year and I will try to say it again. I ta lked to differ­
ent people in the Department that I think we are going to 
find a further decline in the traffic count on this particu­
lar section of the highway because of the change in the 
tourist pattern . 

The touris ts are now coming in on buses and I think we 
should actually count the amount of people that ar e 
travelling on that highway, not the actual vehicles. I 
think if you change to people , you will probably find a 
dramatic increase in that pattern. The unfortunate 
part, I think that what it is going to take is a real serious 
accident on the highway before the federal government 
is going to be convinced that we need a change in this 
pattern. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. !<'leming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, on the budget address 
on page 2, if I could ask a question of the witnesses. 
Where the emulsified asphalt was applied or has been 
applied such as in the Teslin area, do you use the same 
ingredient, say, in the area of Teslin where it is a sort of 
a clay surface you are placing it on, as you would use in 
an area such as Whitehorse or Carcross Corner or some­
thing like that where it is very sandy material? Do you 

( 

) 

) 



use the s<:~me ingredient in your mixture? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman. I refer the 
technical questions to the Department of Engineering. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman. the type of asphalt would 
change depending on the type of mineral aggregate that 
you would have to deal with. so if we use a specific type 
for the material at Teslin , we may not use that same 
type of asphalt at Carcross, let's say. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, thankyou.l think I did 
address it to the witness that last time, however , I will 
this time. Mr. Baker, this question, is it the practice of 
the government to, for instance , build a main highway 
now. say this summer, and then put the pavement on it 
directly when it's completed or would you say it was the 
practice to leave it for a year or so and travel on it before 
placing that pavement-- as of a highway south in one 
area, you did put it on directly last year. 

Mr. Baker: Ideally, Mr. Chairman, asphalt paving 
should be applied in some sort of a staged program 
bas is . The reconstruction should be done first and that 
reconstruction should be permitted to stabilize before 
you put your final asphalt in place. Now, in some cases, 
after construction, it is custom to put on a very thin lift 
of asphalt which will provide a decent driving surface 
for some period of time and then, perhaps one year later 
or two years later, put on the final lift after stabilization 
has completely taken place. 

Mr. Fleming: Is this the case from the Lewes River 
Dam to the Marsh Lake area? 

Mr. Baker: That is the case there. 

Mr. Fleming: Thanks. 

Mr. Chairman: I would like to draw Committee 
M2mbers' attention to the fact that when we have a 
Mmister responsible for vote he is responsible for ans­
wering questions regarding that vote and if he wishes 
the witness to answer he will make that choice. So I wish 
you would direct all your questions to the minister. 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard. 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman, then I'll direct my 
question again at the Minister, my general question 
about the man years. I would like some assurance that, 
with the reduction in man years in the total vote, that we 
are maintaining some kind of service to the taxpayers. 
But I'd like an answer to the question of whether we 
vere over·- manpowered before, or under-manpowered 

now, or are we just being far more efficient, which is 
r eally great to see? 
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Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman , th is is the ques­
tion that we have the witnesses directly for. This is the 
implementation of the highway and equipment mainte­
nance system and I think that probably, for all Mem­
bers' information including mine, that this is the subject 
that we should ask the witnesses to explain to us at this 
time. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker. 

Mr. Ciceri: Just a few comments on this. 

Mr. Chairman: You may sit down , Mr. Baker, you 
don 't have to stand up. 

Mr. Ciceri: In the preparation of this year's esti­
mate and the input into it, I think, I don't know if Mem­
bers have any details or not, but instead of putting it 
together by roads themselves and costing X number of 
dollars per mile of road, it 's been now identified as we 
would identify activities and build the budget up that 
way. 

Now, as a result of doing this approach, we are now in 
the position of identifying actual figures of how many 
men are required, how much equipment is needed and 
how much material is required. In the past, it's simply 
been an estimate and I think the reason for the reduction 
is that it was anticipated roughly we have, I think, 106 
casuals last year. The work program for this year, 
going through it step by step and analysing each activ­
ity, the complement of crew and so on, we come up with 
a requirement of 88 casuals. And this is the reason for 
the reduction. Because, with the new maintenance 
management system, we have this capability of analyz­
ing each activity step by step, crew size, and so on, and 
coming up with a detailed estimate, now, the require­
ments for staff. 

And again, the work program is based on the total 
amount of mileage of the road that has to be maintained, 
a very characteristic number of signs to be maintained 
and the culverts on the road, etcetera. Last year, as was 
indicated, strictly a dollar estimate was given to the 
road program. This year it's a much more detailed type 
of system that we've now developed and implemented. 

It leaves a lot -- one of the reasons, just to go back 
briefly, one of the reasons for doing this type of ap­
proach is the maintenance management system has 
been implemented in various Provinces and States and 
throughout the world. This has been the most effective 
approach to identifying maintenance requirements. 

The Treasury Board-- the reason for the Department 
of Indian and Northern Affairs, in conjunction with the 
Territories, developing and implementing a mainte­
nance management system is that they were unwilling 
to continue with the present method of financing road 
maintenance based on the dollar figure per mile. They 
wanted some substantiation for what we are getting in 
dollar value, how many times we are going to grade a 
road, how many miles of crush are we going to apply, 
how many miles of resurfacing are we going to do? This 
is what the Treasury Board required the Department of 
Indian and Northern Affairs, along with the Territories, 
to submit to them for substantiation of their claims for 
putting in money for road maintenance. As a result, we 
have gone through this approach and developed it for 
the Yukon Territory and we are doing the same thing for 



the Northwest Territories. trying to equalize and iden­
tify the true requirements of road maintenance in a step 
by step procedure. 

Mr_ Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Ciceri. Mr. 
Lengerke? 

Mr_ Lengerke: Just a supplementary to what the 
witness was saying: what kind of contingency factor do 
you use when you are working on the kind of program­
ming that you said. which I agree, I think this is com­
mendable that the Department has embarked on this. 
but what kind of contingency factor do you bu ild into it 
for the unforeseen types of maintenance? 

Mr. Ciceri: For the unforeseen maintenance prob­
lems that do develop. say we get a severe wash-out. if 
this is what you are considering, the capability within 
the program is you simply go and do the emergency 
work and the result is that you do reduce some other 
maintenance work that was already programmed. 
Now. the only other consideration is, if you can get 
additional funds from the Department of Indian and 
Northern Affairs to cover this contingency, then you 
continue on with the present program. But unless addi­
tional funds are coming, you simply have no other 
choice but going in and identifying which activity you 
want to curtail because of this emergency situation. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I might say that, even when 
the roads were budgeted per mile without the systems 
analysis, there was no large contingency factor. But we 
had no problems when an absolute emergency came 
about in getting the additional funding for the 
emergency situation without curtailing other mainte­
nance on roads. 

I don't think that really has changed with the new 
approach to the systems approach to highway mainte­
nance. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: My only thought there would be, of 
course, if you are putting a dollar value on certain prog­
rams without really taking a look at the specifics and 
figure out your manpower requirements, the aggregate 
and the materials, of course, you could inflate that fig­
ure quite considerably and that, in fact, would be able to 
bring you out for some of the unforeseen circumstances 
that may happen. I think the program that we are em­
barked on now, as I said, is commendable and I know 
that that exercise alone, as indicated, will make the 
thing much more efficient. 

I was wondering if there was an actual contingency 
put aside, but I think the explanation is quite valid and 
let's hope we don 't have too many emergency type situ­
ations that would curtail a maintenance program. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, actually I guess I'm 
going to be honest. I really don't understand too clearly 
what the witness was telling us. Mr. Chairman, I guess 
I'm supposed to be directing my question through you to 
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the Mmister. su if the Minister would convey my mes­
sage -- am I correct in assuming that they are not going 
to be doing 1t on -- the estimates are not going to be 
prepared on a road like the Alaska Highway. the Klon­
dike Highway. but they're going to do total miles of 
roads that are being maintained to a certain standard. 
Is this the approach that is being taken? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon·> 

Hon. Mr. McK innon: Mr. Cha irman. as I under­
stand it. and I would like the witness to elaborate on it. 

Mr. Baker: That is correct. When the program is pu t 
together. we take into consideration the total mileage on 
the various types of road. I don't want to get techn ical in 
here. but I'd briefly indicate that each road within the 
Yukon Territory has been classified and based on this 
classif ication certain roads will receive a higher level of 
service than other roads will . On the Alaska Highway. 
for instance, being of higher traffic volume, it will re­
ceive more effort with regard to road maintenance 
than. say. will recreation roads. I think this is obvious. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, then my next question 
for the Minister to convey is our main highways, such as 
the Klondike Highway and the Alaska Highway, are 
they all classified in the same class? 

Hon . Mr. McKinnon: Conveyed, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri? 

Mr. Ciceri: The Whitehorse-Keno Road up to Car­
macks is the same classification as the Alaska High­
way. The Haines Road, the Campbell Highway from 
Ross River up to Dawson and the Boundary at Clinton 
Creek turnoff are in the same classification, as well as 
the Tag ish, the Atlin, the Carcross Roads, the Campbell 
south of Ross River, the Nahanni Range Road, are in the 
same classification. The Canol Road, the Dempster, are 
in another classification. And all the recreation roads 
fall in the fifth classification. 

Now, we do have a map that maybe we could pass out 
to all the Members if they indicate this type of classifi­
cation, which may be of some help. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Whyard. 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: While that's being distributed , I 
wonder if I might address a question to whoever? Have 
we had enough time now, since the program of black­
topping or asphalting has been continuing over a period 
of years, has there been sufficient time now to assess 
any reduction in maintenanc costs or increase in 
maintenance costs or make a comparison of what is 
required for maintenance as regarding grav-el and/or 
asphalt or blacktop? And can we expect, as additional 
amounts of our roads are blacktopped, that mainte­
nance costs will go down? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I will ask Mr. 
Baker to answer that question. 

( 

( ) 

() 
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Mr. Chairman: Mr Bakt·r·• 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chc.1rm:m. for till' flr!-.1 two or threl' 
years after thr pa,·ing IS laid. !htrl' 1s a delTPase in 
mamtenance costs durmg the Mlmmer months. Winter 
maintenance. of course. remains the same. whether it's 
paved or gravelled. From what I \·e been able to read. 
the maintenance of paved roads. after a period of t1mP. 
would probably-- the cost of that mamtenance would 
probably equal the cost of maintammg a gravel road. 
which IS t reated with some sort of dust pall1ati\'e. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Whyard 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: Mr. Chairman. well then . sup 
plement<:try. Mr. Cha1rman. do we ha,·e any md1<:ation 
as yet regarding the reduction of a<:cident~ on pm·ed 
and/or gravelled roads during wmter conditions·• 

Mr. Chairman: Mr Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chmrman. we hme no stat1sll<'!-> on 
that. I'm afraid 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Yes. Mr. Chairman .. Just anybody who 
would like to answer the question I was just wonder· 
ing how many jobs. totally. we elimmated or will be 
eliminating under this new system " 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker. 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman. I wonder if I could ask 
Mr. Ciceri to provide this information? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri. 

Mr. Ciceri : According to the figures I guess that 
were presented in the estimates themselves. I think 
there is roughly 17 positions. if I'm not mistaken now. 
that were reduced overall . And mainly th1s is. again. in 
the casual hirings during the summer periods. We've 
identified a complement for permanent staff which has 
not changed. the reduction being in the summer peak 
workload . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: Just clarification on that one. In the 
17 .5 figure , the casuals are included in that. Mr. Chair­
man. is that correct? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri? 

Mr. Ciceri: Right. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes, Mr. Chairman. my question is 
of a general nature, with respect to paving. And the first 
one is, on the Marsh Lake section of the Alaska High­
way, the paving that was just completed last year. there 
is quite a number of longitudinal cracks appearing in 

./ that particular pavement. They are quite prominent. I 
was just wondering, in fact. if the contractor is liable to 
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come .. back and repair that or replace that pavemEjnt 
w1th no cost to the department or just what is th e war­
ranty on that? 

The other question that I could ask. which I'm sure 
cou id be answered at the same time. is. when you're 
talking of maintenance of paved highways. what is the 
life expectancy. what is the life that you've put in . built 
into the pavement before you have to replace it? And of 
course. I'm askmg this thinking of normal mdinte­
nance . 

Mr. Chai rman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman. as far as warranty work 
1s concerned on pa\'ements. the contractors are nor­
mally responsible for one year for maintenance after 
completiOn. In the case of the Alaska Highway. the 
cause of this longitudinal cracking in the pavement may 
not be the contractor 's responsibility. It may be subsur­
face and therefore it would be a responsibility of gov­
ernment to repair. and not the contractor. 

As far as the life of pavements is concerned. I think 
the accepted period of time is something in the range of 
fifteen to twenty years before replacement is neces­
sary . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman . I didn't have a ques­
tion. it was just that the Honourable Minister of Health 
was wondering about the accidents on the pavement as 
opposed to gravel roads. If this is the existing gra,·el 
roads. I could give her a little information . There are so 
many corners on the Ala;>ka Highway and . being 
crooked not paved. every one of these corners between 
here and Watson Lake has had a reservation this winter 
for an accident and I have had two or three people in 
them. as you will see in the holes in the snow; however. 
the 35 miles south of Whitehorse. on the pavement. 
which r have driven considerably, don't seem to have 
any holes in the snow at all hardly - maybe one or two 
between here and Marsh Lake, which I think indicates a 
little something. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard. 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman, on the paving question. 
it was always my understanding that the maintenance 
cost would save us in the long run because of the heavy 
initial capital costs and I understand now that that is not 
the truth . Because we are not keeping track of accidents 
or anything, I am wondering why did we pave if the 
maintenance cost is going to be the same; we don't 
really know if there is any advantage and we are obvi­
ously having a heck of a time out there. Every time I 
come into Whitehorse, I seem to be all over the road 
because of the ruts. Really, what is the advantage in the 
paving? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: That 's a make work project. 

r Laughter 1 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, as I understand it. the 



new management system approach to budgeting. we 
will be determining the maintenance cost for each class 
of highways. How would this effect our agreement with 
the Alaska Highway turnover in our agreement for 
funding for that turnover? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: I don 't believe there will be any effect. 
Mr. Chairman. At the moment, the Department of Pub­
lic Works provide us with funds which we feel are neces­
sary to carry out the maintenance. We have ver:; little 
argument persuading that we requi re so many dollars 
to do our par ticular job. Interestingly enough , on the 
85/15 roads this year, we fou nd that we required more 
money for maintenance than what was provided for 
really in the budget , which would be permitted by the 
Department of Indian Affairs, but we were unsuccessful 
in getting the additional funding. We would hope that 
next year that additional funds will be made available to 
us because of this study. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson : Mr. Chairman. in your review of your 
different classes of roads and the cost to maintain them 
and you're also taking into considerat ion your equ ip­
ment of course and personnel, in your review for your 
different classes, have you determined that it 's going to 
be necessary to move or eliminate maintenance camps 
to move personnel, or will there be a considerable shift­
ing of equipment? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: The answer is no to all of those ques­
tions. Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, on the map we all 
received here, I compare it with this budget and the 
Carmacks/Whitehorse highway is in the same classifi­
cation as the Alaska Highway. And in the budget here, it 
says that the Alaska Highway and the Haines Road is 
100 per cent recoverable. I was wondering if we also 
have 85115 per cent sharing with the federal govern­
ment. I wonder what the other classifications are . 

. Category three, four and five, what cost-sharing ar­
rangements do we have with the federal government on 
that? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman , the Alaska Highway 
Maintenance is 100 per cent recoverable from the De­
partment of Public Works of Canada. That's the red 
coloured road shown on this map . The section of the 
Klondike Highway between Whitehorse and Carmacks 
is shared 85/15. All the green and yellow roads are 
shared 85/15. The orange roads would be 100 per cent 
territorial. 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger : I guess the blue is included in the green 
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and yellow. 

Mr. Baker: I'm sorry. Mr. Chairman. the blue 
would be 85/15 except for the Haines Road and that 
would be 100 per cent recoverable from DPW. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes. Mr. Cha irman. I have one more 
question on this on the Dawson Boundary Road. right 
now. partially. it's on the blue. in Category Two. and my 
question would be after the closure of the Clinton Creek 
Mine. would it be a Category Four. yellow. then? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Yes. Mr. Chairman . it wou ld b\'Comr 
yellow. but the cost would still be 85/15 shared. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman. just a question on ad · 
ministration, since there has been a complete overview 
of the whole department. are they going to change thP 
northern and southern areas and have more superin­
tendents in smaller areas or is there going to be any 
change in that kind of structure? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: There will be no change. Mr. Chairm;m 
Existing regions wi ll remain. 

Mr . Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Another question on the northern area . 
how many of the casuals who are being laid off will be in 
that area? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr . Chairman, we haven't hired these 
casuals yet, so they won't be laid off. 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman, yes I realized as I sat 
down that I was using the wrong term. How many will 
not be hired compared to last year? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: I think Mr. Cha irman , that we wi ll hire 
apJ}roximately the same number of casuals this coming 
summer as we did last year . Just because we have 
shown in the '75 or '76-'77 estimates, 106 casual years. 
doesn't really mean to say that we hired 106 people. It 
very likely was considerably less than that. 

Mr. Chairma11: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, one thing still puzzles 
me, in the back of my mind, I have put into five 
categories, roads, but with the new maintenance sys-
tem established now that some of those roads are goir ) 
to receive less maintenance, is this the intention of tl 
categorizing the roads? Like the main highway, I cou\-. 
see being maintained day by day and say category four 

( 

) 



or thret' maybe are only gomg to n·cet\'l' tn<llnterwnct> 
when necessary. 

Mr. Chairman: !\1r. Baker'! 

Mr. Baker: It ts true Mr. Che~irmCJn . that ca tl•gory 
four roads will receive less maintenance than category 
one roads. The maintenance on category rour roads will 
be done on a planned basis and this certa inly will not be 
.. as and when required .. kind of planning. It wi ll be on a 
planned basi:-. . 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard'! 

Ms. Millard: Is there any change a11t ic rpated in till' 
Old Crow are<t on the maintenann• of the ai rstrip there'' 

Mr. (;hairman: Mr. Baker ·' 

Mr. Baker: There wr l l be no changes. Mr. Chair· 
man. to whCJt Wl' CJrc doing at present. 

Mr. <.:hairman: Mrs. Whyard'! 

lion . Mrs. Whyard: Mr. Chairm<1n. just a general 
question. I believe the~t our witness tod<~y has had a 
stmi lar opportunity in the Northwest Territories for 
mHintenance. with roe~ds for the government there. And 
I wondered if he wou ld like to take a moment to do a little 
general comparison for us on the number of miles that 
we are maintaining compared to what the NWT has and 
whether we have exactly the same cost-sharing agr ee­
ments wi th the federal government? And in general. I 
wou ld like him really to tell us how much better our 
roads are than theirs? If I'm not leading the witness. 
Mr. Chai rman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri . 

Mr. Ciceri : There's approximately :tbout half the 
mileage in Northwest Territor ies than you have here. 
The level of maintenance in the Northwest Territories is 
far below the Yukon Territory. One of the reasons being 
that there is-- the control that you have here is lacking 
over there and this is one of the reasons that the De­
partment of Northern Affairs requested us to go in there 
as well and to put in the management system for them. 

We've identified extensive needs in the way of funding 
in the Northwest Territories. At the same time we've 
also identified additional needs over here in the Yukon 
but a far greater percentage in the Northwest Ter­
ritories. I think we put together an initial program 
which required about a 40 per cent increase in funding 
from OlAND and over here I think it came to some­
where around 10 to 15 per cent. And. as a r esult, OlAND 
is having to take a hard look at road maintenance in 
Northwest Territories and seeing what type of fund 
level they're willing to fund. They attempt. now. with 
the activit ies identified and the level of ser vice iden­
tified for specific categories of r oad. they can now make 
the comparison between the Yukon and Northwest Ter­
ritories with regard to how much it is costing to do 

1lcium chloride over there as opposed to over here. 
_.1d it gives them quite a degree of information that 

rhey lacked before. Again. before the Northwest Ter­
ritories, as they did here, they just funded by per mile of 
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road. There are other problems over there with regard 
to personnel. You're fortunate over here having a pretty 
high calibre of operators and so on that they lack there 
and th is has compounded the issue. 

Mr. Chairm:1n: Mrs. Whyard? 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: Supplementary. I didn't mean 
to infer that all the roads are not good in the NWT. there 
is one particular strip approaching Fort Simpson which 
has the most beautiful gravel I've ever seen in my life 
and that's why it's a very good piece of road . I am told. 

I would like to ask . further . Mr . Chairman. if because 
of this study on the other side. there is any indication 
that perhaps the NWT may now show some interest in 
restoring the Canol on their side? 

Mr. Ciceri: I r eally ca n't answer specifically about 
the Canol Road. Again . that is a federal pol icy. they 
cover that. And that's all I can say in that respect. 

Bon. Mrs. Whyard: Mr. Chairman'' 

Mr. Chairman : Mrs. Whyard? 

lion. Mrs. Whyard : Perhaps Mr. Baker could assist 
us on this one. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker ? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman. as far as I know. the 
NWT government places a ver y low priority on th ere­
construction of the Canol road within the NWT. And. 
whether or not the government of Canada. that is the 
Department of Indian Affairs and Northern Develop­
ment would be able to encourage them to place th is road 
in a higher priority . I don' t really know. 

As far as we are concerned. in our conversations with 
the NWT people, we indicated to them that the upgrad­
ing of that particular r oad is of great importance to the 
Yukon Territory . and we would like to see the upgrading 
proceed at the earliest possible time. 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: Thank you. Mr. Chairman . 
Perhaps it 's time for this House to move once again in 
that direction . I know that we have made efforts across 
the border in earlier years. which received no particu­
lar acknowledgment. but it doesn't hurt to try again . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke ? 

Mr. Lengerke : Thank you , Mr. Cha irman. Just as a 
matter of interest, maybe one of the witnesses could 
answer this. Is it still general practice throughout the 
provinces that there are one hundred per cent r ecover­
able costs on some of the highways there? Is this still the 
situation that exists? I'm thinking of the Trans Canada 
Highway ver sus the Alaska Highway. What is the cost 
sharing on some of these types of roads? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr . Ciceri? 

Mr. Ciceri: As far as I know now. there is no cost 
sharing in any provinces with r egard to road mainte­
nance, the only being the Department of Public Works 
on the Alaska Highway . 



Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Yes, Mr. Chairman. approxi­
mately a year or so ago, the Northern Roads Committee 
completed a study of northern road requirements. I 
suppose you would call it, and I note in the remarks of 
the Honourable Minister this morning that provision 
has been made by the federal government for surveys 
for further roads, among other projects for thi~ forth­
coming year under our budget. 

I'm wondering if perhaps Mr. Baker, having been a 
member of that roads committe, could inf01 m the 
House today, Mr. Chairman, as to whether it is the 
intention to survey a loop which would link the Canada 
Tungsten Road, or known by the government as the 
Nahanni Range Road, with the North Canol road at 
MacMillan Pass? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman , this proposal has been 
looked at and it will be surveyed some time in the future. 
The exact date, I can't say. It depends on Treasury 
Board approval and it's unknown, really, when this will 
be forthcoming . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Supplementary to that question, 
Mr. Chairman, I'm wondering if Mr. Baker might be 
able to tell us then , if he has any knowledge of just when 
the government approves surveys for ~ ·ture roads, ob­
viously we must have some idea of what roads we 're 
going to survey and what are these roads? 

Mr . Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: It's a pretty tough one, Mr. Chairman. 
When the roads group was in the Yukon Territory two 
years ago now, approximately, I seem to recall that 
people in the Yukon didn't want any new roads. They 
wanted the existing road system upgraded. About the 
only new road that I recall being mentioned at all was 
this possible loop that Counsellor Taylor referred to. So 
if the consensus in the Yukon Territory is that there 
should be no new road construction, then I think you will 
see that the t; nphasis will be placed on reconstruction 
and paving and upgrading the general quality for all 
users in the Territory. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman, I would like to open 
that dreadful can of worms called the Dempster High­
way. I remember attending one of the fact finding tour 
meetings in Dawson where the discussion came up 
about the Dempster Highway. I was amazed to find that 
in the report that came back that there was support in 
the Yukon for completion of the Dempster Highway. 

It amazed me because there didn 't seem to be any 
support, partly because this House passed a motion 
more in support of the Carcross/Skagway road than the 
Dempster. Since then a lot of information has come out 
which shows that there shouldn't be support for the 
Dempster as far as I am concerned. I am wondering 
who makes the decision on that sort of thing? Was it the 
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fact finding tour? Was it Mr. Cleghorn that made the 
dec ision and how is that decis ion made since it seems to 
be agai nst what public opinion is here ? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman. these are pol­
icy and general questions for debate this House can 
get into. The federal government made that decision. 
There is no doubt about it. The federal government will 
make the dec ision to not go ahead with the previous 
decision that they made . It wasn' t made in the Yukon 
and it wasn 't made by th is House. It was a federal gov­
ernment decision. I was just wondering. Mr. Chairman. 
if you could keep the questions to the wi tnesses before 
the noon break so they could be excused and then we can 
get into the policy in general debate this afternoon . 

Mr. Chairman: i\.rs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr . Chairman. my questions are for 
the witnesses. will this new system of maintenance 
management require more management and adminis­
trative people? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman. the answer to that ques­
tion is no. There will be no increase in administration. in 
the administrative level in my department. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? ( 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Cha irman. will this system assist 
us in obtaining funding for capi tal projects for upgrad­
ing of existing portions of roads? Since this system 
could prove well that a need is there for upgrading and it 
seems to be a system that the federal government rec­
ognizing, could we use th is as a tool for that? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman. we intend to use it as a 
tool as I have described. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes, will the, Mr. Chairman, will the 
system be more compatible with the computer prog­
rams? Will you now be able to get use, better use of the 
computer for instantaneous types of information back 
on· your maintenance costs? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri? 

Mr. Ciceri: At the present t ime, we are going to 
utilize the reports coming back from the computer that 
are in effect now. We are, at the same time, going man­
ually through various reports, to get a fast turn around 
t ime. The hope is that eventua lly, after we get the man­
ual debugged, that over a period of one or two years, 
some of these reports can come from the computer . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, just another question 

( 
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before our noon hour break. It has to do with mainte­
nance, but I 'm concerned that-- it a lso has to do with the 
CarcrosstSkagway Road. And I'd like to know if it is the 
intention, once the Carcross/Skagway road is com­
pleted, if it will be maintained on a year round basis? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr . McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : Mr. Chairman, at the present 
time there are no plans to maintain the 
Carcross/Skagway Road on a year round basis. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke : Mr. Chairman, why would that deci­
sion have been made? What prompted that? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman, as I r ecall, when the 
people started talking about constructing the Skagway 
Road years ago, that these people said at that t ime that 
they would be satisfied if the road was maintained dur­
ing the ~ummer months only. It is on this basis that we 
were able to get the Department of Indian Affairs in­
terested in constructing the road and the construction 
now , of course, will be completed this coming year. It 
will be open to traffic in 1978 and, at the moment, it will 
be maintained during the summer months only. Be­
cause this was the wish of everybody, as I recall, years 
and years ago when the project was first approached. 

' 
Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, one last question, sort 
of a detail , I guess. We referred to work quantities stan­
dards. When we establish work quantities standards, do 
we fit them or take into consideration or use the existing 
employee classification and work and job descriptions 
or will it be necessary in order to meet these work quan­
tity standards to change some of the classifications and 
change some of the job descriptions for employees? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri. 

Mr. Ciceri: There is an attempt now to change the 
classification ; the existing classifica tion of employees 
will not change. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, you used the ones that 
are in existence? 

Mr. Ciceri : That is right. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, just supplementary 
to the Carcross-Skagway Road question, on the mainte­
nance, and I direct this question to Mr. Baker because 
he certainly is more knowledgeable about the road sys­
tems and the type of conditions that prevail than any­
body else. If he doesn't know the answer, well, that is 
fine too, but in your opinion, Mr. Baker, would mainte­
nance on the Carcross-Skagway Road be such that you 

Page 509 

don't see, ever, the full-time or the opening of that road 
on a year-round basis? Is the maintenance factor that 
high in preventing this to happen? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Baker? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman, I expect some t ime in the 
future it will be maintained on a twelve-month basis. If 
this ever does come about , it will be an extremely costly 
proposition because of the high snow removal costs that 
we will be faced with. It will be similar, in this respect , 
to the maintaining of the Haines Road which costs a 
very large amount of money every year. 

Mr. Chairman: Is the Government of British Col­
umbia undertaking any maintenance for the portion of 
that road in B.C? 

Mr. Baker: Mr. Chairman, the maintenance of the 
Ha ines Road and the Carcrosst Skagway Road will not 
be participated in by the Province of B.C. 

Mr. Chairman : Mrs. Whyard? 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: This may be beyond the range, 
Mr. Chairman, of the witnesses . Projecting the ef­
ficiencies in the economies which will result from this 
study and the new management system, are we looking 
at a reduction in requirements for trained operators 
who, for example, are students at the Vocational and 
Technical Training Centre or will we always require a 
steady flow of such graduates? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Ciceri? 

Mr. Ciceri : I would anticipate now, with additional 
mileage of road coming on in the future and hopefully 
the additional funding level that we get, hopefully next 
year that there would be an increase in requirements 
for operators. As a result, the operator s trained at the 
vocational school would be still required in the road 
network. 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Are there any further questions for 
the witnesses? 

Thank you, Mr. Ciceri, Mr. Baker . 
Committee will recess until1 :30. 

(Adjourned) 

Mr. Chairman: I now call this Committee to order. 
Establishment 900, clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 901, Building Maintenance, 
$963,800.00. I refer you to Appendix, page 24. 

Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman, I 'm a little confused 
about the relationship between the Building Mainte­
nance section and the Housing Corporation and its 
maintenance considerations. 



Is it eventually planned to have the two under one 
heading or is that always going to be a separate kind of 
thing? I understand the Housing Corporation does its 
own maintenance on its own buildings, is that correct? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes, Mr. Chairman, there are 
no plans at the present to mould the two. 

The Territorial Government building maintenance is 
on Territorial Government institutions and buildings; 
the Yukon Housing Corporation's buildings are com­
pletely independent and not part of government's arm. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: So, does your department do no 
maintenance on staff housing? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes, staff housing is YTG's 
housing. Everything but Yukon Housing Corporation, 
which are not part of this government's housing ; they 
are the Yukon Housing Corporation's housing. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: It sounds like it is as confusing as I 
figured it was and I'm surprised there is no plan for the 
future to kind of put the two under one heading , although 
I can see the difficulty with the Housing Corporation 
being a corporation and us being the government de­
partment. Is that what's different about it? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: The Yukon Housing Corpora­
tion considers itself to be independent of government 
completely and our Honourable colleague, the Minister 
of Education, can speak for the Housing Corporation, 
but as I understand it there's no plans and it's not desir­
able and not wanted by either Engineering or the Yukon 
Housing Corporation to have the maintenance of the 
Housing Corporation houses under the Department of 
Engineering. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I'm probably in 
the completely wrong vote here, but I was wondering if 
the Minister could tell us what plans are under way on 
the buildings and camp maintenance side of Eagle 
River on the Dempster Highway? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, at the Eagle 
River, I think there 's monies in the capital side of the 
vote for part of at least the planning and maybe some 
construction of an Eagle River complex. It is our inten­
tion, once we have the plans available, to see whether 
there is a private entrepreneur who would like to build 
the complex and government would rent the facilities 
from him -the camp, the kitchen facilities , the bunk 
facilities- and they would also be available for private 
use of travellers on the Dempster Highway. 

If that cannot come about, then it would appear that 
government would have to provide these facilities for 
themselves and probably for any travellers who find 
their way up the Dempster Highway to the Eagle River 
also. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Page 510 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes. Mr. Chairman. the Minister 
would probably want to answer th is one. 

Just to make it clear in my mind. last year. under 
Building Maintenance. we did do some maintenance for 
Yukon Housing Corporation. did we not? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Not to my knowledge at the 
present time , Mr. Chairman. unless Treasury can tell 
me differently. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Yes , Mr. Chairman. The Department 
of Highways and Public Works does do a limited amount 
of building maintenance for the Yukon Housing Corpo­
ration. I believe at one point in time they did the major­
ity of it , but it's been the policy over the last couple of 
years to more and more move to the priva te sector. 
Within this budget in 901 , it is contemplated that the 
Housing Corporation will be buying about $20,000.00 
worth of maintenance services from Highways and 
Public Works and that's included in this $93,000.00 
chargeback. 

But, by and large, they spend their maintenance 
money with local people. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: The reason for my question was, I 
see the man years are the same and I was just wonder­
ing, I thought there might be a significant workload 
shift from building maintenance under this particular 
vote to Yukon Housing and so therefore I thought there 
wouldn't be the workload and possibly there could have 
been a reduction in man years. But if it wasn't that 
significant in the first place, then it 's understandable. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: . Mr. Chairman, I had problems 
when even the building maintenance was set up in the 
Department of Engineering with their own foremen, 
electricians, plumbers and carpenters, because I 
thought that that was taking away from small contrac­
tors and private enterprise. 

We had a pretty good debate in this House at one time 
and it was shown that, because of places where they 
couldn't get tradesmen, which is always very difficult, 
to go to the smaller communities, as Members realize, 
to have any satisfaction from people in staff housing and 
in the different maintenance camps, that we had to set 
up our own maintenance crew in engineering. And I just 
wouldn't be a part of further diluting the money that 
comes from organizations and crown corporations to 
the smaller communities for private enterprise to do 
these contracts. I think that we could stand accused, 
and quite rightly so, if we tried to put the Yukon Housing 
Corporation maintenance also into the ha!]ds of gov­
ernment. You know, we're not leaving very much for 
the small entrepreneur to get his fingers into anything. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lang? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Chairman, in Vote 18, of the 
Yukon Housing Corporation, if the Members have had a 
chance to look at that particular vote they ~ill see that 
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there is one page devoted to delineating the vanous 
programs that the Housing Corporation delivers . 

There is a section wh ich specifically outlines for 
maintenance which is in an area of $126 ,000.00, it 
amounts to that much, for the Housing Corporation re­
sponsibility to maintain the various units that they have 
in the particular -- in the various programs. In some 
cases it is private individuals; in most cases it is private 
individuals. and in other times where we are in -- the 
way I understand it, that we are in more or less a small 
government camp, then we would be utilizing some of 
the manpower from the Department of Public Works 
but that money would be charged back to us , is the way I 
understand it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: I thank the Honourable Members for 
the explanation. I don't know if they really caught what 
I was saying or not. I was just wondering if there has 
been a significant shift of workload that would be at­
tributable to Yukon Hous ing Corporation maintenance 
from this particular vote, 901. 

I say that I see the manpower is just exactly the same, 
that is what my question is, if you shifted a certain 
amount of responsibility then there could have been a 
decrease of manpower. I've got an explanation and I 
thank you for it. The other thing is that I'd like to ask, 
Mr. Chairman, under Primary 20, which is $15,500.00 I 
think, under Building, I think that is for Professional 
Services. Perhaps the Minister could give me an expla­
nation of what that is and also under Primary 50 you've 
got $189,000.00 and I believe that is for the purchase of 
certain materials and what have you. I haven' t got the 
other sheet in front of me; I was just wondering if you 
could give me some kind of a breakdown there. How did 
you arrive at that 189,000? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : I know what the $15,000.00 is 
for. I am going to need some help with the 189. The 
$15,000.00 is to try and find someone who can come to the 
Yukon and put the proper climate controls working in 
all the Yukon schools and public buildings in the Yukon. 
I don't think that I've found one of the schools or public 
buildings that is properly climatically controlled for the 
amount of capital investment we have in the heating 
and circulating systems. They just aren't working and 
there isn't anybody in the Yukon who can make them 
work, and we are going to have to get somebody to 
increase the efficiency of the heating and air and cir­
culating systems in public buildings in the Yukon. It is a 
highly technical sophisticated business, as I under­
stand, and we have to go outside and get one to do it. 

Mr. Chairman, I haven't got a breakdown of the other 
question that Mr. Lengerke asked and perhaps Treas­
ury can help you with that. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, with respect to Prim­
ary 50, I can only give you a very general answer. If you 
look at the appendix on Page 24, you will see that over 
the last several years, at least, using the ratio which the 
Department of Highways uses, the amount of mainte­
nance has been declining and so for 1977-78 they have 
asked for and received an additional approximately 
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$100,000.00 to improve their overall building mainte­
nance. I frankly don't know, a t this point in time specifi­
cally, what their maintenance program is but the extra 
$100,000.00 was given to them so that they can increase 
their overall building maintenance program which has 
fallen behind over the last two or three years. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: $100,000.00 is a pretty significant 
amount of money and it would be very interesting just to 
find out what they have in mind. I wonder if we could 
maybe get a little further clarification to that? 

Mr. Chairman: Could we have that? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes , Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Just to clarify my confused mind about 
the building maintenance, I presume then that the 
buildings that come under th is vote are actually public 
buildings - schools, offices and that kind of thing, 
where the housing, staff housing, et cetera , comes 
under the Housing Corporation. Am I correct? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes . 

Ms. Millard: Yes , good , it's clea r in my head now; I 
can separate the buildings in my head. My next question 
is, Primary 50 was an increase of about 100 per cent 
under cartage, I'm wondering about that, and under 70 
there's quite an increase. Does this have anything to do 
with the reorganizing of the whole department? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, the breakdown 
of 50 is what Mr. Lengerke asked for and we'll be bring­
ing back to the Members. Neither Treasury nor I have a 
detailed breakdown. 

Primary 7, in Building Maintenance, is the repair and 
maintenance of buildings and painting contracts and we 
have a schedule which wasn't put into effect last year 
because of the financial position of the Government of 
the Yukon and we will be reactivating that painting 
contract schedule this year , and buildings which 
haven't been painted, some as far back as '68, will get a 
paint job this year. Just a partial list is the Beaver Creek 
School, Destruction Bay School, Dawson School, F. H. 
Collins, Whitehorse Elementary. It is on the basis of so 
many years when they haven't been painted that they 
should get a coat of paint again. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes, just again further to 901 on iJage 
24 , Maintenance of Territorial Buildings , there's an in­
crease of fifteen buildings and I was just wondering if 
any of those are pretty significant structures. Probably 
I woold think-- assume the administrative building that 
we're in now is one of those, but perhaps the Minister 
again could tell me what the fifteen buildings are. Are 
they of any significant nature or not? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: No, Mr. Chairman, I don't 
have a breakdown of the extra fifteen buildings that we 



took over in the course of last year. 

Mr. Lengerke : I don 't want to be unreasonable on 
that one, because it might mean the little maintenance 
sheds or what have you , but if there's an addition in that 
fifteen I'd like to know the significant ones. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Do you have that information? 

Mr. Williams : Mr. Chairman, I don't have the 
schedule but, just comparing the dollar amounts that go 
with the buildings, there's about an increase of 
$3 ,000,000.00 in the fifteen buildings. I'll have to try and 
find out what those fifteen buildings are, but I don't 
know what they are offhand. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, a question for the Minis­
ter and he was saying that they require to get some 
expertise in to provide the technical advice and know­
ledge so that they can properly use the heating and 
ventilating systems that we have in so many of our 
schools and large territor ial buildings. And I'm quite 
familiar with the problem that the Yukon is encounter­
ing in this regard. My question is, why do we continue to 
put systems like this into our buildings, design them this 
way, when we know full well that we don't have the 
capability to maintain them? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I just don't know 
how to answer that question because if we don't have the 
sophisticated type of heating and air circulation ar­
rangements, we'd be the first to hear from the parents 
in the various communities that they want this type of 
system for the health of their children in the school 
systems. And we've been trying desperately to get a 
person on staff in Yukon, for years, who, this would be 
his job and he just can't be found at this point in time. 

But I don 't think that the Department of Education or 
the Library Services want to,go back to the barrel stove 
in the corner which everybody knows how to control. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the Hon­
ourable Member's remarks, but when he 's saying that 
people would complain because if they weren't having 
the proper ventilating system and heating systems, but 
the point is, we have these grand systems in our schools 
and nobody knows how to work them. This is our prob­
lem, you can't even go and turn up the thermostat. It's 
either 90 or it's 40, this is the type of thing that's hap­
pending. And we are getting complaints from parents, 
I'm sure we're getting many complaints from people 
who are on the custodial staff. We're getting complaints 
from teaching staff. Because they're so sophisticated, 
nobody can repair them and it makes it worse because if 
you have a simpler system at least you can turn up the 
thermostat or .do something. 

With so many of these systems that we have, you just 
can't do anything to rectify it and my question still 
holds. Is it necessary, when you design our buildings 
and I've always wondered about this , why does it have 
to be that complicated, sophisticated type of arrange­
ment? 
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Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman . I 'm not even 
going to try and pretend I'm an expert on this subject 
because I just am not and I would have to ask for techni­
cal help and advice on this matter. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger : Yes, Mr. Chairman, I don't think it 's fa ir 
that the building maintenance crews. to accuse them of 
not being able to repair them , bec;.w e 1 know they do 
repair them. But I think the accusation has to be pointed 
at the administration. When they first build the build­
ing, they one type of heating system or air condition 
system in there. A year or two later , they find that the 
building wasn't large enough so they have to add on 
another section of the building and then they find them­
selves in trouble becuase the heating system was not 
designed for the enlarged building. So this is when peo­
ple start to complain about it because one section of the 
building is ice cold and the other section's so hot that 
nobody can stand it anymore. And this is what I think 
the main problem is, especially with schools around the 
Territory. 

And I don 't want to say that the building maintenance 
crews are all at fault. I think it's the designers and the 
original planners of the building that are at fault. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: Thank you , Mr. Chairman , I'm afraid ) 
it will probably be a motherhood statement that I'm ( 
going to make about the maintenance on these types of 
systems, but it isn't unique. I can assure the M~mber 
from Kluane it isn 't a unique situation for the Yukon. 
Because, certainly just about anywhere you want to go 
with new buildings, it seems to be the problem of trying 
to maintain a heating or an air conditioning system. 

And I guess it must be the complexity of the controls 
that are put in, of course, and certainly you ask the 
question of why do we continue? Well , every time we get 
a plan drawn up the architects that do provide those 
plans and the engineers that do provide those plans, 
incorporate into the design , a very complicated system. 
These are the systems that we've had before acro'ss the 
country and I guess we're going to have to live with 
them or an administrative decision is going to have to be 
made that we're going back to a simple type of heating 
system. 

I guess that is the answer and it really lies with that 
decision. And that's about all I can say, but certainly, as 
I say, I can assure you I was sitting here recalling when 
I was involved with the Kelsey school division in another 
northern community and where we were looking at a 
number of schools in the millions of dollars costing and 
again, systems that just didn't operate, the same thing. 
It was just like a re-run of another movie, sitting here, 
Mr. Chairman,listening to this and that's about all I can 
say, so--

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming. 

Mr. Fleming: Well, thank you, Mr. Chairman, how- j 
ever, you thought I had my hand up, so I will say ... I 
know the Teslin school for instance, is a very bad one. 
And has been for many , many years. There's nothing 
new. When we first put in the new school , we had the 



same problem and nothing , nobody could change it and 
at that time we put, and the teachers and so forth, could 
take the thermostats and change them however, it 
didn 't seem to do any good. It was 90 in there anyway. 

There is a solution to the problem, though . Some­
times, if your wife is having a problem with here fur­
nace and it 's too hot and it's too cold ,she keeps turning it 
up, or the school , I would say to put the thermostat 
somewhere else where one person looks after it and 
leave them a dummy thermostat in there and they will 
set it where they want and everything will be fixed. 

r Laughter 1 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I think I've discovered 
where most of the fifteen buildings are. They are the 
buildings that are supposed to be built during 1977-'78 
and for instance, there 's the Mayo Administration 
building, there's two general purpose huts and there's 
several buildings at the Carcross-Skagway mainte­
nance camp. I think the fifteen is probably just a guess­
timate, but that would be where most of them are going 
to be. 

Mr. Chairman : Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, then when we are in­
cluding brand new bu ildings, I would hope that the per­
centage of maintenance costs, compared to the capital 
costs for the building, is a little misleading because I'm 
sure with some of the older buildings, or maybe with the 
newer ones, the older buildings, the percentage is much 
greater for the maintenance costs. 

Do we have any sort of a scale that shows this and how 
long--how high does your percentage of your mainte­
nance costs have to be to the capital costs bCiUl-: you 
considering replacing a building, and is that taken into 
consideration when we go for a new building? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Will iams? 

Mr.Williams: Mr. Chairman , the Member raises a 
very good point, that figure is a very crude one. It's a 
figure that is used by a lot of people but, at best , it is just 
a guesstimate because you can't really go on a overall 
basis, you do have to look at your inventory of buildings . 
If all your buildings are brand new, well , then you 
wouldn't need 4 per cent maintenance every year. If 
your buildings were all very old you might need sig­
nificantly more than 3 per cent. 

So it is a very crude guesstimate. The ratio has to be 
taken in that light. 

Mr. Chairman: 901, are we clear? 
Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, one last question for 
me, on 901, that $15,000.00 for grounds,that's not the 
ground improvement program that the Members were 
speaking of? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr . Lang. 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Chairman, I know that there is a 
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~efinite line item in the budget in relation to the ground 
Improvements for schools. I don't know what that par­
ticular item is for but we have a definite program for the 
schools in relation to the ground improvement. 

Mrs. Watson: I wonder if I could get an answer to 
what that refers to? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I believe that relates to 
repair of parking lots and that sort of thing at govern­
ment buildings . 

Mr. Lengerke: Just again, before we leave that one, 
we might have had the answer to this one on primary 70, 
the $27 ,000.00 for exterior painting, that is for qu ite a 
number of buildings isn't it or is it--or maybe there is a 
schedule for the paint? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chair man, there is a list of 
about 15 or 20 buildings for both exterior and interior 
painting in the current fiscal year. 

Mr. Chairman: 902, Highways and Maintenance, 
$15,111 ,000.00, continued on Page 1!!7 and on appendix 
pages 25 and 26. 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, I see in the appendix on 
Page 25, that the roads I questioned a little while ago in 
the supplementaries as recreation roads like the 
Bonanza Creek road, the Hunker Creek road and so 
forth, are still under the recrea tional roads. I wonder if 
the Minister could assure me that there is ways and 
means of getting mor e ma intenance on those roads for 
this year or to shift them to a working road or some 
other type of road. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr . Cha irman, the only r eally 
sound method of getting a change in the maintenance is 
getting them upgraded from a recreational road to a 
territorial road where the F ederal Government, under 
the Engineering Services Agr eement, will give us an 
85-15 split on. I can assure the Honourable Member that 
there are attempts made on the two particular roads 
that he's talking about, Hunker and Bonanza, to have 
them classified under the Engineering Services Ag­
reement as territorial roads so that they wi ll be main­
tained year around and they will also be cost-shared by 
the Federal Government on an 85-15 split. 

I think that I can say that we have some optimism in 
this regard, but this may come about in the current 
fiscal year. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr . Mr . F leming? 

Mr. Fleming: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I haven't a ques­
tion , actually, but I would like to comment and I think 
the Minister of Local Government and the department 
are doing the best they can on the recreation roads; 
however, I wish to make a point at this time in reference 
to the Tagish Road from the main road to the recrea­
tional sub-division, the new one that has been developed 
there. In the past , and as of now, it is the policy of the 
government not to mainta in these roads year around if 
they are just recreationa l roads . However, there has 



been, in the new sub-division, they have fifty some lots 
sold I think, and the neighborhood of the Tagish area 
there are some two hundred lots that have been sold to 
people, or leased, or so forth and so on, tha t are being 
taxed at least $100.00 per lot. 

I feel that that road , if there has been people living on 
it before, should be , possibly, maintained a little better 
than it has been in the past. Due to the fact that the 
Federal Government put that sub-division in there, I 
don't think the people in Tagish asked them to put it in 
there, they put it in there, it is being used ten times as 
much as it would before during the summer months, the 
early spring and the early fall, they can make a mess of 
a road, and even though it freezes in the winter time it 
can still stay a mess if you try to maintain it yourself. So 
merely to bring the a ttention to the Minister, that we are 
collecting a pile of taxes out there and possibly that 
couple of miles should be looked into a little bit more 
than has been in the past. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : Mr. Chairman, this House is 
going to have to state the policy that either llll recrea­
tional roads are going to be maintained on <• y ~ar round 
basis, or they are not. I can give you a cost . 1gure that 
will blow your mind. It's just going to be completely 
astronomical , the cost to the tax payers of the Yukon of 
keeping all the recreational roads open on a year round 
basis. And if you do one, you're dead because there 's 
people scattered on those recreational roads just about 
throughout the length and depth of the Yukon. They 're 
going to say if it's done here there 's no reason, and 
they're absolutely right, that it can't be done for me 
also. 

On recreational roads, I just have to impress once 
again that they are 100 per cent cos ted to the taxpayer of 
the Yukon Territory. We get not one cent in Federal 
funds for them. You'll be looking at a bill that I just don 't 
think that we can afford at this time. 

Now, how you make the Soloman-like decision that 
we'll do this road, but not that one, do this one in this 
Member's constituency, and not that one, is one that I 
sure want this House to make because I'm not making it 
on my own. There is no doubt about it. 

Until I get clear direction by Motion on certain roads 
that Members think should be maintained year round at 
the expense of other roads, and not having a policy 
where you then do it to all recreational roads , which I'll 
give you a cost , which you know, even without me bring­
ing it that we can't afford, we're really in a problem 
area .I don't mind admitting that it. It's been a problem 
area for years, and one that we haven't been able to 
solve equitably at this time and I don't see a solution 
around the corner. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I sympathize with the 
Member's problem, no problem with me at all , in that 
respect. However, possibly it's worth thinking about. 
The federal government also collects taxes from these 
areas over which they go and develop , so maybe we 
should be looking into checking with the federal gov­
ernment on cost-sharing . 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I 've stated be­
fore in this House and I'll state it again, that we were 
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never told that there was going to be Tag ish subdivision 
and another subdivision and once the subdividion was in 
and the federal government sold the lots and we. then. 
as territorial taxpayers take up the maintenance of that 
as a recreational road without any dollar involvement 
from the federal government. 

So, you know , it's really great , this dear old govern­
ment system where people can go out and do whatever 
they want on Yukon lands, wherever they want. and 
then the bills come home to roost to the Yukon tax­
payers who have no control, no input and no d irection 
over the original plans, the same as the garbage dump. 
You know , there's agr icultural grazing leases all over 
the place and the Department of Environment - the 
federal government gave out the leases, or the tit :e tnd 
then the Department of Environment comes along ;md 
says now look it, guys, you build a waste disposal sys­
tem. You build a garbage dump and you maintain it and 
you service it or we're going to bring you to jai l . 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, we do have a problem 
on recreational roads and every year our recreat ional 
roads, we have more and more of them and I appreciate 
the concerns with the Member from Hootalinqua and 
also the concerns of the Minister. I think that we're 
going to have to come to grips with the problem, pilrticu­
larly where people live along some of these roads. 

I think of my own riding , where they have Deep Creek 
and Horse Creek out to Lake LaBarge, and we have 
quite a large permanent settlement there, the people 
have not asked for this to be changed. They would like to 
have it but they're prepared to accept the fact that ·­
trey wanted to live outside of an organized community 
and they're prepared to accept the fact that they will be 
responsible for that road for the months that it isn't 
maintained by the government. 

On the other hand, we must also remember that these 
people are paying property taxes. People in other areas 
in organized areas in the Terriory are paying property 
taxes and they receive the benefits of those property 
taxes. I think somewhere along the line, the territorial 
government is going to have to give very serious consid­
eration to having some forms of local government a ll 
across the Territory, be it county or region or municipal 
or whatever it is, so that these small groups of people 
can use their tax dollars to maintain the roads and make 
such a priority on what roads they want maintained. 

I think that, in some way, will help the situation these 
people at Tagish are facing and will help, to some de­
gree, the situation that my constituents in the Deep 
Creek and Horse Creek area are facing. 

But there is one area where I do feel that the territor­
ial government, very much, has a responsibility. The 
Minister referred to it in his paper on land policy. It's 
the maintenance and snow plowing of abandoned road­
ways created by the relocation and straightening of the 
highway system are some problems. And I think, and 
other jurisdictions recognize this, and I have a very 
specific problem at Milepost 928, I believe thdt's it , just 
outside the city limits, where the Alaska Highway was 
rerouted and the people who lived along the Alaska 
Highway before, the old road has just been abandoned. 
There's not been any more money spent on it at all. 

Now, when they first moved there, there w~s a road. 
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There was a maintained road. Now. in mid-stream, 
somebody has changed that road. I think there should be 
some arrangement made and some responsibility ac­
cepted by the terr itorial government for maintaining. 
at least to a minimal standard, the road. the old aban­
doned road. 

I am very aware of the problem unless we get some 
recognition of this problem from the government, when 
they straighten that ten miles we're going to have a big 
problem. There are many people living there and they 
are living along a maintained road. They are going to be 
living along an abandoned road and an abaildoned road 
is even worse than a recreational road. 

I would urge, very strongly, that the territorial gov­
ernment look at this and include the maintenance of 
these roads and we're looking at not a great deal of 
money. You're looking at a few thousand dollars and it 
makes a great deal of difference to people who live 
there. Now we can easily. I was going to say blow, spend 
$20,000.00 on a study. $40.000.00 on a study , $50,000.00 on 
a study. $50,000.00 would maintain some of those aban­
doned roads for an awfully long time, and it woulu pro­
vide quite a service to those people who live there. 

They don 't receive any other municipal service and 
they're not asking for it. So they are paying taxes. Even 
somehow or other , the territorial government looked at 
the revenue from their taxes and used it to establish 
some standard for that road. That would be more equit­
able and fair than what we have now. just saying, ··no" . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, just following on 
those lines, I'm just wondering if the government has 
given any consideration to a new classification for this 
road system. I just kind of wonder if recreational roads, 
who's kidding who? Isn't it time that we did something 
with respect to moving some of these roads into a cl<• 
sification that we well know that we have to maintain 
and getting some criteria set out. Certainly, you know, 
to guise it under recreational roads is not right. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman , we don 't care 
what you call it. Call it anything you want, we want 
money, is what we want, to be able to maintain them. 

You know, here we go again, the Alaska Highway is 
the case in point. We don 't ask for the design to be done, 
we don 't ask for the relocation of the Alaska Highway, 
we don 't ask to have any part in the process of it. It 's a 
federal government agency which has the total control 
of design and money with what they do on the Alaska 
Highway , so they go ahead and do it. 

It then becomes the responsibility of the territorial 
government to provide the access for all those people 
who have now been cut off from access because the 
federal government agency has decided to redesign and 
rebuild a federal road. So, you know, here we go deeper 
and deeper. 

If we could get a different classification, like the roads 
the Honourable Member talks about, and get some kind 
of a split under the Engineering Services Agreement 
because of these problems that are being thrust on us, 
through no fault of our own, and I just find it distasteful 
for my tax dollar going to something of which I have not 
been a part, which I haven't said go ahead and do, but all 
I do is pay the bill. 
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Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman , I am in full ag­
reement with the Honourable Member from Kluane and 
I completely disagree with the Honourable Member 
from Whitehorse North Centre. It's not always the fault 
of the federal government. I can name a couple of cases 
in the Dawson area that was the whole responsibility of 
the territorial government to maintain those old ro<Ids 
and it was the territorial government who rerouted and 
straightened out some of their own roads there , and now 
there's people --

There's one particular case, I'm thinking of two old 
ladies in their eighties completely cut off from any ser­
vice and they 've been living there for seventy some odd 
years in that particular spot and they can't get anybody 
to maintain their road. 

And this is what I saw saying, I am in agreement with 
the Honourable Member from Kluane. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I'm rather surprised 
that the Minister stood up and said the Alaska Highway, 
we have nothing to do with it under the Highways Ordi­
nance. The Alaska Highway is under our direction and 
control and any rerouting of the Highway can be inter­
ceded by the territorial government and if that ten miles 
on the North Alaska Highway are straightened, it's 
going to be to the benefit of everybody who travels that 
road. 

But, we should just build in the cost of maintaining 
that road, the abandoned road. There should be no ques­
tion about it. Every time we embark upon such a prog­
ram, there are people living along the abandoned road, 
that's part of the responsibility of relocation. And we 
have the authority under the Alaska Highway Ordi­
nance -- the Highways Ordinance, it is our road. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, as I understand it 
from the Minister now, would I be right in saying that 
possibly we are the ones here that should be bringing 
forth some sort of motion to suggest to the federal gov­
ernment and when they do these things , they do not just 
leave the access to people's homes filled in and you can't 
get to the road and this sort of thing and that they are 
re:sponsible and that they should do that. Did I get that 
from your--

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, in all the years 
I have been here, we get in this very same debate every 
year. There is never, ever been a satisfactory solution to 
the individual complaints of all Members, from my con­
stituents, from your constituents, in an individual and 
specified area. 

I don't know the answer to the problem. I am just 
stating that we couldn't afford to classify all the recrea­
tional roads as territorial roads and pay the bill. If they 
are special roads for special circumstances, I am just 
saying to Members that there is people on just about all 
of these roads and all of them will have a particular case 
and if you deal with one. you are going to have to deal 
with them all, if you are going to be fair. 

After all the debating every year , that comes up at 
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every budget session, we still haven't found the solution 
to these problems. I don't think, presently, that we have 
enough money to find the solution to this problem if it is 
done on an equitable basis. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, I think that all we are 
asking for right now is just to have a continuous maint­
nenace of abandoned roadways where the Highway has 
rerouted and I think that is all that this House is asking 
for right now. What I wo1Jld like to ask the Minister is, 
could he give us the assurance that those abandoned 
roadways, by rerouting the Highway, will be continued 
maintenance by the territorial government. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I won't give 
that until I have a cost figure and bring that before this 
House, because I am not going to commit this House to 
an expenditure that they may not see fit. 

I will bring the information I can, where all the aban­
doned roads are and I haven't got a clue where they all 
are. I am sure that Honourable Members will have to 
have Engineering to pin point all the instances of aban­
doned roads which should be maintained on a year 
round basis by the Yukon territorial government. If 
those facts can be found , I will put a dollar figure to 
them and bring that to the House but tha t I would ask 
that all Members give me the particulars of the circum­
stances when such abandoned roads, with people living 
on them, where they feel they should be maintained, so 
that we can put a cost figure to it and bring it to this 
House as to whether or not we can afford to maintain 
just those abandoned roads or not. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, just a question again 
for my own information, interest. Of the recreational 
roads you have listed here in 902, do all these roads get 
maintained a t the same frequency? Can we split out just 
exactly, specifically how many times they have been 
maintained by YTG, like if plowing does take place and 
that they do get graded. Can we get that kind of informa­
tion? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Certainly the information is 
available, I don't know how long it will take to break 
down every r ecreational road and every bit of work that 
was done on them during the last fiscal year but I think it 
would be a very difficult task. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, no, I don 't want to 
know every little bit of work that was done on it but for 
instance, certainly you could give us a count as to how 
many times a particular road had been graded in the 
year or how many times new surfacing had taken place 
or how many times it had been snow plowed. What I am 
trying to get at, and I don 't particularly want to put this 
House through that kind of exercise, but I would suggest 
that this is how we are going to get to some kind of 
solution for coming up with a policy for these roads that 
we are speaking of, where people do live. 

I think through some kind of a system where we look 
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a t the population along each road, where we look at the 
frequency of service that has been attributed to them 
now, we could come up with an equitable policy. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lang? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Chairman, it's my understand­
ing that at least a part of this problem was solved in 
relation to having a third party agreement in some of 
these outlying areas, outside the municipal boundary of 
the various municipalities and L.I.D.s where there is 
government equipment and there is time, they can 
make an agreement with the government to have them 
come in two or three or four times a year to plow out the 
road. This is my understanding and maybe the Minister 
could correct me if I'm wrong, but this is my under­
standing that there was the availability of a third party 
agreement with a private individual if they wanted to be 
serviced , if the machinery was available. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes, Mr. Chairman, you'll see 
a recovery section in the estimates for third party ser­
vices, which is exactly this type of thing. People who 
want the services of a government grader , who pay the 
cost, but most of the people in the Yukon don 't feel that 
they should be taking the services of government and 
paying for it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Whyard. 

Hon. Mr. Whyard: Mr. Chairman, this is not a sub­
ject that I'm well versed in because they don' t relocate 
many roads in my particular constituency. But I bow to 
the superior experience and knowledge of the Honoura­
ble Member from Kluane, and Mr. Chairman, I wonder 
if she can inform us if we can get to a specific road 
relocation problem, when the Alaska Highway relo­
cated this side of Kluane Lake and cut off a certain lodge 
operator with resulting problems I am told that there 
was some kind of a meeting to and from the people of the 
area that this was going to take place. Can we be told · 
whether, at that time, anyone asked regarding reloca­
tion costs or maintenance of the cut-off portion of the 
road? Has anyone ever put it to the crunch at such a 
time? 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, that's a good question 
because that -- what the Honourable Member referred 
to, the Minister at that time DPW did it. It was a decision 

·by DPW. And at that time there was a commitment 
made to the people involved that they would, because it 
was a business establishment, that they would maintain 
the access road into their establishment. But then you 
have a different example where no commitment is 
made and no services provided. So it isn't a consistent 
type of policy. In one place it is provided; in another 
place it isn't . 

The third party services, and this is also a good ques­
tion that was brought up by the Minister of Education, I 
thought, that this was a policy of the Territorial Gov­
ernment that people could hire the equipment, to get the 
equipment from the Territorial Government, for a fee, 
an hourly basis, to plow out these roads. But in the areas 
around Whitehorse now, they don't do this because they 
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have to get private enterprise . Apparently there has 
been some policy where government does not want to 
interfere with private enterprise. So it involves getting 
a piece of equipment out from Whitehorse rather than 
being able to rent the grader that 's going by the road for 
an hour or half an hour, they 're going to have to get a 
piece of equipment all of the way out. And this makes 
another problem on top of it. So it's not as simple as it 
appears. I am very hopeful that the Minister will en­
deavour to do some work on the areas where there are 
abandoned roads. 

Now, I 'm not talking about abandoned roads for thirty 
to forty years, or something like this. I 'm talking about 
situations that have been caused within the recent 
years. and if we could get a cost , the number of miles 
we're looking at; I don't think they're that great; and 
then we get a cost of what it would be to maintain. 

And I a lso think the Member from Riverdale made a 
good point because I don 't think all of the recreational 
roads that are listed in the Appendix are maintained to 
the same level. It would be a very, very expensive pro­
ject to embark upon, but I still maintain that recrea­
tional roads are recreational roads, but where people or 
a group of people live along them they should, somehow 
or other, be given the right to use even a portion of their 
tax dollars to maintain that road. Even a portion. It may 
not be a great deal, but at least they'll feel that their 
taxes are going for some type of service that they be­
nefit from. 

~n. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, as I say, it 's 
ays a good debate every year , the same one. One I 

aid a certain amount of study on, it was in the Honoura­
ble Member from Hootalinqua's constituency and he 
had made some representations to me. And first , I went 
into the history of people who were living along the 
Annie Lake Road and most of them were federal graz­
ing or agricultural leases and in all the leases, every on~: 
of them , it says - we covenant, we understand that 
there will be no provision for road maintenance, no 
provision for school busing, no provision for any of this ; 
sign on the dotted line. So when I went and looked at how 
much , of course, they were paying in taxes, all of them 
were on the hundred dollar minimum and had been 
under that, prior to it. 

Then I went and looked at the number of children in 
the busing contracts, and each one of those kids was 
costing the Territorial Government about $1,500.00 per 
year, with the school and the busing system, and then 
<~<e are maintaining the road up to about $3,500.00 a year 
maintenance also. If any of them are sick, it's $150.00 a 
day it costs us in the hospital per day for any of them. We 
took a look, because of the complaints of them on the 
road maintenance, and we found there was really no­
thing we could do with the road other than the grading 
which costs us from $3,000.00 a year because the road is 
really a trench well below the surrounding terrain and 
has as many drainage problems. It's difficult to main­
tain and unsatisfactory to most travellers. What it 
would cost us to reconstruct that road to any kind of a 
standard is a quarter of a million dollars. 

We've got to be really reasonable and practical about 
people can expect from Governments who origi­
.say, "this is what I want because I want a distinc­

t" "• separate type of life style' ' . And we say, ''Alright' ' , 
you know, and, Mr. Chairman, it 's happened over and 
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over and over again that once the land is gotten for 
$100.00 ltn acre and once $100.00 a year in taxes is paid, 
then it's never -- it's just history that all the goods and 
services are demanded from the other taxpayers of 
Yukon. 

I just don't think it's fair for the cost that it is C(ISting 
and will cost if we go ahead and provide even more 
services than are presently being provided. With the 
cost of education, the cost of busing, the cost of hos­
pitalization, the cost of medical services, I think people 
do pretty good for their $100.00 that are on these acreage 
properties outside the City. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr . Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Yes, Mr. Chairman , my concern 
was in the question asked, I believe, by the Honourable 
Member from Riverdale, asking for a breakdown of all 
these recreation roads, when they were plowed, or what 
frequency they were maintained. This is going to put the 
administration to a great deal of work and cost and we 
have a lways understood that the policy behind recrea­
tion roads was on an as-need basis. 

It seems to me that , without going to find out how 
many times the Watson Lake ski hill was plowed, I 
mean some of these are winter maintenance, some of 
these are summer maintenance, some of them are-- you 
know, there are different c ircumstances. Some of them 
perhaps, such as the Takhini Hot Springs Road, would 
be maintained on a year-round basis, you know, show­
ing where the individual need was for the individual 
road. I can't at this point understand what, you know , if 
you put the administration to all this work to drag out all 
these figures, how many times -- you couldn't draw any 
conclusions from it. 

But I have a lot of sympathy with the argument that is 
being made about these abandoned roads, but there 
must be some other way of approaching it. That 's my 
concern - that the administration would be put to this 
futile task and nothing could be derived from it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, the thing is that, 
I'll state again, I didn't say before, the recreation roads 
-- I think what I asked the Minister to do is abandoned 
roads. Where there once was a main highway or main 
roadway, abandoned by the Territorial Government. 
And I'm in full agreement with the Minister when he 
says when the people go out and get a haying lease and 
put a house on it, we are creating problems. I do not ask 
for that information. All that I want him to bring is the 
information for the abandoned highways and how much 
the cost figure would be to maintain those roads. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I sympathize 
with all the Members, but I also sympathize with the 
Member from Watson Lake in these problems, he's 
worried about the government having problems and he 
never has before ; however, I think possibly you might 
be looking at it the wrong way. I would say that the 
members themselves, nobody has a very large portion 
of recreation road, and I have to agree ; the Annie Lake 
Road, for instance, is a bad one , and on the other hand 

•, 



-
there's a difference between that one and the Tagish 
one, which is two miles to be maintained possibly in the 
winter and there is at least $5,000.00 worth of taxes in 
one little area right there at the end of it that comes to 
this government. 

I can agree with the Honourable Member in lots of 
these things but it's, you know, a problem. But I do not 
agree with what the Minister of Local Government said 
a little while ago about these people costing too much 
money. 

I cannot agree that a person on the Annie Lake Road 
who is paying $5.00 in taxes or 3< in taxes, alongside of 
somebody in Riverdale or in Porter Creek or in Teslin, 
in the c~ntre of it or anywhere else, is paying $500.00 
taxes, is any different or costing the government any 
more money than they are, anybody in the country. 

Their money that they spend in this country from 
working and everything goes right here, the school 
taxes are paid by everybody. You may pay $500.00 for 
taxes in town here, but I would like to ask you where that 
$500.00 goes? That $500.00 goes towards improvements 
around your home and near your home and the pave­
ment you are driving on, the sidewalks you walk on and 
the sewer and water you have in your house, and the 
light outside the door . But don't forget that that person 
costs this government probably hundreds of dollars 
more than that $500.00 worth of taxes to keep him in that 
position. 

He is paying exactly the same as that person that is 
out there. We all are paying our share. I think that these 
people are entitled to just our thoughts, at least, that we 
might be able to do something for them. I feel that 
possibly the Honourable Members in this House , if they 
have a problem with their roads, that I think I will in my 
area not only bring it to the attention of the Minister, 
which I have many times , and that that probably cannot 
be solved and I don't blame the Minister; I think that 
possibly we should ourselves go to our constituents out 
there, sit down and figure out how much it would cost to 
run that road in the winter time, so many times to be 
plowed and so forth , and bring it forth to the House for 
his information. And if he believes it or not, it makes no 
difference but we can tell him and I am quite confident 
that we can come up with just as good an answer as the 
government can if they surveyed it. 

I don't think it will run into the millions of dollars to 
just maintain the road . I feel that this might just be a 
worthwhile project. I hope to undertake it myself, know­
ing that I can't get anything any other way now. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I don't disag­
ree with any of the remarks. All I am saying is that the 
government shouldn't have to be investing a quarter of 
a million dollars in road reconstruction. My answer to 
the people is, "I am sorry"; then we would be giving too 
much in government funds to make this major invest­
ment on that highway . Other than that, I agree com­
pletely with the H!"lnourable Member. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, the Honourable 
Minister's remarks were very enlightening and it was 
very interesting this morning, when we had the witnes­
ses here, and the Carcross/Skagway Road was brought 
up. Everyone in the Yukon Territory _should know full 
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well that the Carcross/Skagway Road was lobbied for 
on the basis th at it would be a seasonal road and main­
tained in the summertime only. The road isn't even 
finished yet, and they will start lobbying for it to be 
maintained on a twelve-month basis. This is very 
natural , so don 't be so shocked when people move out on 
a road and you get a group of them there, that they are 
going to ask for that road to be maintained . It is human 
nature, we are doing it every day with the Federal Gov­
ernment. 

Another thing, I do resent the comparison of taxes 
that people pay, with property taxes, and property 
taxes are a very different thing. Now. nobody's prop­
erty tax in the Yukon Territory goes to hospital nor does 
it go to ambulance services, and don 't say that people 
who are not paying a great deal of property taxes are 
getting more medical benefits than other people. 

Education, yes ; the school bus goes to some of these 
areas, very true, and it is expensive. But your school bus 
also drives around Whitehorse quite extensively. That 
is a service that the government is providing. Some 
people in Whitehorse, within two miles, can't get the 
benefit from it and yet they are paying money towards 
that service. Other people can, and they are paying the 
same amount of money. It has to be an equalization 
thing. 

The point that I think that the Member of Hootalinqua 
and I were trying to make is-- well, if we have people 
living in some of these areas and they want some assis-
tance with the maintenance of their roads, those chose \ 
to live there, can 't we consider that some of their prop- 1 l 
erty taxes, and they are on an equitable basis with 
everyone else in the Yukon, and nobody else is subsidiz-
ing their hospital or medical care, can't some of their 
property taxes be applied to the maintenance of those 
roads? 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Whyard. 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard : Well , Mr. Chairman, we're long 
past the point I was rising to speak on, the comment I 
was going to make was unworthy of me, but irresista­
ble. In the light of the comment from the Honourable 
Member from Watson Lake, regarding the cost of in­
formation about certain roads requested by the oth~r 
Honourable Member, because my branch, at the mo­
ment, is spending several hundred of the taxpayer:-•j ol­
lars to obtain for the Honourable Member from Watson 
Lake, a computerized breakdown of docton;"•,alaries 
and fees paid under Medicare. 
· Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor. 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: I appreciate the comments of the 
Honourable Member and I hope that perhaps we might 
reach something conclusive from the information she 
may bring forward to the House. I, of course, can see 
nothing conclusive arising from the information asked 
for by the Honourable Member from Whitehorse River­
dale. 

Mr. Lengerke: First, I have to have that information ) 
then we'll see what kind of results we're going to get.' 

However, as I said earlier, I'm not going to hold up a 
vote or I don't want that. I don 't expect that information 



to be s itting on my desk tomorrow. I don't think that 
somebody should embark upon a great--! asked the 
Honourable Minister if. in fact. they had some figures 
from their maintenance records. if th is kind of informa­
tion is available. And if it isn't. well. he's going to tell 
me. I'm su re. And I'll have some other thoughts with 
respect to this. That's all, it was a very simple request 
and. as I say, it doesn't impose on the Minister a special 
s tudy. And if he can't get rne the infor mation. well. I'm a 
fai rly reasonable person, I 'm sure I can settle it with the 
Minis ter. 

Mr. Chairman : Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I just was going to say 
tha t one of the advantages of the new management sys­
tem. which Highways is now using. is that this type of 
informat ion can be made ava ilable in the future. I think 
if we went back and tried to derive it historica lly. we 
would have an awful lot of trouble. 

But. for instance, I could use an example that most of 
the recreation roads, not a ll of them but most of them. 
but most of the recreation roads would be called Categ­
ory F'ive, which on the map a re. where they are marked 
in. are marked in an orange. And . for instance, a Categ­
ory F'ive road, it is anticipated will get four gradings per 
year so one of the advantages of the new mc..nagement 
system is that this kind of information can be made 
available. If you know what Category of road you 're 
talking about. well then you could quickly look a t high­
~ay standards and those s tandards would tell you how 
often it's going to get plowed, gr aded. etcetera. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairma n, if no one minds. I 'd like 
to get back to 902. we're looking at $15,000,000.00 and 
we've spent an hour over $15,000.00 for recreat10"" ' 
roads and nobody seems to be worried about the 
$15,000.000.00. I 'm just as much to blame. 

Mr. Chairman, I'd like to ask the Minis ter, with the 
system's approach to maintenance, will the format of 
the budget be different classification of the roads? Or 
will we follow the existing format? If we follow th is one, 
it 's going to be very difficult to relate to your mainte­
nance management system . 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I think that question would be 
more apt ly answered by the Treasurer. Mr. Chairman . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams : Mr. Chairman, th is present format 
has, in fact, been developed by the consultan t as part of 
his s tudy so that this is the general format he 'll be us ing. 
The only further breakdown he makes is that , where 
he's got much more detail inventory records , but he 
goes on step further to further breakdown these costs by 
camp. As far as the consultant is concerned, it is the 
camp that's the cost centre and they look a t the number 
of miles of roads in each of the categories which are 
maintained by a camp a nd they 've built up their budget 
1at way. They set the standard for each category of 
oad, they look at the number of miles of each category 

road services by a camp and by applying the standards 
with the inventory, they then derive the costs. So this 
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form a~. has been developed by the consultant . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. F'leming. 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman . I wonder if the Minister 
could tell me if the. it says the services, drainages . 
roadside winter bridges. Are these bridges. Mr. Minis­
ter . or culvert" and where would they be? If they a re 
bridges. I m. an where would they be? 

Hon . Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I don' t have that 
right now. Perhaps Mr. Treasurer has. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams : Mr. Chairman, I believe this refer 
s trictly to bridges as opposed to culverts. The informa­
tion that I've got is just that it's bridge cleaning. It 
would probably vary with the s ize of the culvert and 
perhaps a large culvert tha t has got a decking over it. 
would fall into the bridge category. but I 'm sorry, I don 't 
have any very specific details on that. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor ? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Mr. Chairman. under 902, Highways 
Maintenance, the $50,000.00 for maintenance s tudy, is 
this the study that we were discussing this morning in 
changing systems or is this a differe nt s tudy ? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Willia ms? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, that's correct . and I've 
been informed in the last couple of days that th is 
$50,000.00 is in fact going to be paid directly by Ottawa. 
so that $50 ,000.00 will be avai lable to reallocate to other 
categories of road maintenance. 

It was originally proposed that we would pay the con­
sultant and recover 100 per cent through the Engineer­
ing Services Agreement. I am now told that Ottawa is 
going to pay the consuitant directly and s till leave us 
$50,000.00 within the Engineering Serv ices Agreement 
to be spent on Engineering Services Agreement roads. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Mr . Chairman, I'm curious about the 
section called " Overhead". I can't unders tand why it is 
a separate section, it should come under "Establ ish­
ments" or--What is "overhead"? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, there are a lot ofthings 
that get lumped into the category of Overhead. These 
are costs which are encouraged at and by the various 
maintenance camps, but they can't be allocated di­
rectly to one of the activities such as Snow Clearing or 
Grading. Some of the items which are included in Over­
head . perhaps I can give you some examples. for in­
s tance, the VHF costs which are paid for by Highways. 
The portion which gets charged against the Highways 
amount to some $100,000.00. That 's included in Over­
head. 

In two communities. Highways does provide an am­
bulance service and that costs $15.000.00. The biggest 



portion though, I think , is the cost offoremen, salaries of 
foremen , and that sort of thing, so there are various 
things that get charged against that Overhead , Over­
head Account. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Would the standards that are being 
used for the various categories be available to us , or are 
they rather complex? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I've got a rough 
schedule and whether or not it's complex , I suppose 
depends on how much you know about road mainte­
nance and tha t sort of thing. Some of the things are hard 
to understand, but I do have a bit more back-up infor­
mation . 

Precisely how the standards are derived I don't know, 
they've been derived by the consultant. Presumably, 
some compromise between what they would theoreti· 
cally like to have and the amount of money they 've got 
available, so how, for instance, they decide a category 5 
road gets two passes with a grader and a category 4 road 
gets four passes, I don't know. You would have to get the 
consultant to explain it. I do have a bit more back-up if 
the Members would like it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: If he has something available, that 's 
fine, but I don 't expect him to go to a great deal of work 
to give us a great deal of technical information . 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, they are broken 
out on what they call a road maintenance budget work 
sheet and they are complicated and they are difficult. 
That's one of the reasons I asked for the consultant this 
morning, because I was going through that information 
and I couldn't make heads or tails out of it. 

Mr. Chairman: I think it's time for a recess. 

rRecess ; 

Mr. Chairman: I now call Committee to order. Mr. 
Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Mr. Chairman, I would like to go back 
to that bridges for an instant again. In the papers you 
gave us here, there was bridge cleaning and ice bridge 
constructions and so forth and general bridge mainte­
nance. Is this all grouped together and is that what that 
figure stands for? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, of that maintenance 
budget work sheet, the item which we have got sum­
marized as bridges, comprises all those activities in the 
500's, so this includes bridge cleaning, general bridge 
maintenance, and timber and deck repair. 

Page 520 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming. 

Mr. Fleming: Just a question. Mr. Chairman. on the 
ice bridge in Dawson City, is that a responsibility of the 
Territorial Government or Federal Government or 
Clinton Creek, or who? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I believe that is a Ter· 
ritorial Government 's responsibility . The sky line, for 
instance, is this shared 100 per cent with the Federal 
Government. I think that the ice bridge itself is main­
tained and constructed by the Terr itorial Government 
and it is under the Engineering Services Agreement. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: It 's recoverable 85-15 Mr. 
Chairman, from the Federal Government. 

Mr. Chairman : Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Mr. Chairman . I am wondering. 
under 902, Traffic Services in the amount of $200,000. is 
this road signing or what would that include? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I am Jed to believe it is erecting 
new signs and signing and sign posts maintenance and 
that type of thing. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Mr. Chairman, would this then--this 
amount be covering the new proposed signing system 
for the Yukon Territory? Is this why the amount is so 
high or is this a normal annual expenditure ? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I havl'! a rough break­
down of that once again. It's included in the detailed 
working papers that we passed out. But 43,000 of'that is 
for the erection of new signs, 88,000 is for maintaining 
the existing signs, and there is some $22,000.00 set aside 
for installing new lighting and $38,000.00 for painting of 
traffic lines. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming. 

Mr. Fleming: Could I get a definition of snow plow· 
ing? Zones 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, is this cert~in Highway numbers 
or is this zoning areas? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams : Mr. Chairman, I believe it relates to 
snowfall zones. Certain areas receive a higher snowfall 
than others. I believe that is what the relationship is. 

Mr. Chairman: 902, are we clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 905, Third Party Services, $210,000.00. 
Clear? Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: I have only one question at this point 

) 
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and that is Vehicle Recovery under Third Party Ser­
vices. Just what is implied here? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, all these figures are 
just estimates. They depend, of course, on the demand 
from the public, but vehicle recovery I believe relates to 
pulling cars out that have gone off the road and into a 
creek, or over a sharp embankment, that sort of thing. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard : Mr. Chairman, I 'm curious about the 
man years, 4 112 man years. Surely we don 't have 41J2 
people just working for the general public. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, that just relates to the 
man year equivalent of the time that's spent, but the 
work is actually done by the camps, the regular mainte­
nance camps. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Why do we do the spot patching for 
them? 

) Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: I would presume, Mr. Chairman, that 
it could be done for any private individual , somebody 
that might happen to have a long private road, or into a 
private business. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, I was just wondering, 
if that represented any recoveries from the Federal 
Government or any--? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: No, Mr. Chairman, these third party 
services , I suppose conceivably it could be done for 
another government, but by and large they 're done for 
private individuals. 

Mr. Chairman: 905, Clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 906, Northern Exploration Facilities 
Program, $125,000.00. Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Yes, Mr. Chairman . First of all , I 
can't recall the detail behind the Northern Exploration 
Facilities Program.l'm wondering if we could just have 
a brief explanation of the program and also is this 100 
per cent recoverable from the Federal Government? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman--
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Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman , it used to be 
called a Tote Road Program and everything gets fancy 
names these days. 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Mr. Chairman, one additoinal ques! 
lion, then, if this is Tote trails, how much money of the 
total amount allocated in the current fiscal year has 
been spent to date. Has it been over-subscribed or 
under-subscribed? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, we ' ll have to 
give you a supplementary because the program had not 
been subscribed up to the amount we had been voting in 
the budget every year. So last year we only put in 
$50,000.00 and I believe our--I have the figures and Mr. 
Williams can give them also, that we had an estimate in 
the supplementaries, I believe they were somewhere 
near another $50,000.00 and we are budgeting next year 
on that basis for some $125,000.00 which we hope will be 
realistic. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, in the 1976-77 fiscal 
year , the committee which examines applications have 
approved applications up to the amount of about 
$90,000.00. The actual payments to February 24th were 
only $60,000.00. The way it works is that an applicant 
applies and gets his project approved but he might not 
necessarily then go ahead and construct his road or 
whatever, so, it's hard to know exactly how much will be 
spent but the maximum so far this year is that it could 
be $90,000.00. 

Mr. Chairman: 906, clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 910, Office Accommodation. We 
have a zero figure here, I wonder if that could be exp­
lained. 

Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Yes, Mr. Chairman, what busi­
ness have we in the government of the Yukon Territory 
got mainta ining the Federal Building in Whitehorse? 
May I have an answer to that one, please? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, we must pay 
rental to the federal government for the space that we 
still have in the Federal Building which consists of the 
Magistrate 's Court, the Magistra te's offices, the 
Sheriff's office and the Legal Administrator's office, 
and that's the charge that we pay to the federal gov­
ernment for the footage space that we still have in the 
Federal Building. 

Perhaps we should be happy that we got through the 
Highways Maintenance portion of the section before the 
guests in the gallery arrived because I'm sure they 
would have been in hysterics listening to me try to exp­
lain the highways maintenance operations of the Yukon 
Territory. And of course, I think that we just have to 
welcome the foremen from the various maintenance 
camps from around the Yukon who I see are present 



m the Gallery and welcome them to our Chambers. 

rApplause J 

Mr. Chairman: Yes. Mrs. Whyard. 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard : Yes. Mr. Chairman. perhaps 
the Minister would like to run through them again now 
that he knows the answers. 

Mr. Chairman: I guess that 's one way of commun­
cating. 

910. clear? 

Some Members : Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 915. VHF System. $68.900.00. 
915. clear? 
Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, who do we have the 
contracts with for the maintenance under this VHF sys­
tem ? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Total North Communications , 
Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: This contract for :.,.,aintenance, is 
that put out for bid, whenever it expires or how is it 
obtained? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: It will be, Mr. Chairman, once 
the project is completed which should be with this fiscal 
year and then there'll be a yearly service contract that 
will go out to bid. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, do we use any of the 
lines or facilities of CNT? Are we obligated in this sys­
tem? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: We have charges when we go 
through the Cn system. They're billed as a normal user 
when we use the CN portion of the system. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Yeah, on the maintenance, is it 
strictly a maintenance contract as far as outside people 
or do we have anybody employed within the govern­
ment that is involved in the maintenance of the system 
itself? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Not that I know of, Mr. Chair­
man, I could be corrected, but I think it's a total outside 
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contract. I don 't believe there ·s anybody on staff that is 
working with our VHF system directly. 

Mr. Chairman: Ms. Millard? 

Ms. Millard: Mr. Chairman . I'm curious why 
there 's nothing in the '76-'77 estimate. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr . McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Well, Mr. Chairman. the sys­
tem in '76-'77 was in the installation stage which in this 
year , we' ll see the final installation "tage of it. But it was 
the first full year of operation thatneeds the service and 
maintenance now on the system as it is operable . 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman . of the Minister. am I 
not correct in saying that the VHF system was origi­
nally designed and built as a single unit separate and 
apart from the CNT facilities and lines and we would 
have operated it without paying the service charge to 
the CNT and then they stepped in and said, no, you must 
use our lines in the Whitehorse area? And as a result of 
that , we now have to pay a fairly substantial rental 
charge to them? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr . McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I'm not an e 
pert on the history of the VHF system and if that is t~ 
case, it's new information to me, I wasn't a rare ofthat. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I'm not proposing that 
I am an expert on it but I would certainly like this 
checked out and I would like to know just exactly what 
the service charge fee is, that we have to pay CNT or 
whether in fact we do have to pay it to them. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I believe the Treasurer has 
some information. 

Mr. Chairman : Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, the activity entitled 
"line charges", represents what we do pay to CNT. I 
don't have the complete history but I am told that where 
our system would have duplicated their existing 
facilities, we opted or were told, I don't know which was 
the case, that we would use CNT facilities and that is 
what the $83,000.00 represents, payments made to CNT. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I still would like it 
checked out, because this is an ongoing charge -
$83,000.00 and that is a great deal of money. Had we been 
able to use our own, we wouldn't have to continue to 
this $83 ,000.00 every year. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I have a 

) 
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breakdown of the CNT line charges and there is an east 
trunk from Whitehorse to Watson Lake and a North 
trunk from Whitehorse to Ross River to Galena Site to 
Dawson City, a West trunk from Whitehorse to Beaver 
Creek. We are also charged by CNT for space in the CNT 
buildings for loop charges and for Whitehorse switching 
facilities. So it seems that CN has us pretty good, to the 
tune of $83 ,000.00. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson : Mr. Chai rman , I would like the Hon­
ourable Minister to get the history on this for us because 
I think there is quite a history on it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, it would be very in­
teresting to see just how much of the $83 ,000.00 is attri­
buted to the actual line charges. The Honourable Minis­
ter has mentioned that we are r enting some facilities as 
well, or being charged for the use of facilities , but the 
line charges would be an interesting thing to see what 
sort of ongoing expense we have there. It almost ap­
pears like it could be a one time situation and maybe we 
should be looking at that. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: You are looking at the com­
munications game, they don't sell you a line,:hey lease 
or rent one to you yearly, that is the game. 

) Mr. Chairman: 915, clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Maybe Honourable Members 
would be interested in knowing the use that the VHF 
system is put to. I think one can see from the numbers of 
departments that do use it , that at least somebody 
needed a VHF system throughout Yukon. 

The RCMP, NCPC, lAND, Environmental Protection 
Services, Fisheries, Canada Customs , DPW, CBC and 
Canada Tungsten Mining Company all use our VHF 
system so I imagine the traffic does get pretty heavy at 
times on it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, I would hope that just 
because we asked a couple of questions about it , doesn't 
indicate that we feel the VHF system is not a good 
system because certainly, I am well aware of the people 
that do use it and certainly, the satisfaction has been 
indicated. 

I am also aware that of other systems in place across 
Canada, certainly in prairie regions where you would 
think that there would be no problem with communica­
tion and here we have a system in a very mountainous 
region where we have a lot of remote situations, and we 
probably have one of the best communications systems 
going. I would just like to say that. . 

Certainly, the questioning is not a reflection on trymg 
'o say that we haven't got a good system. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 
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Mr. Berger: It is very interest ing, Mr. Chairman, to 
hear the Honourable Minister m ention CBC. How are 
CBC using the system? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: The technicians only. We 
r ealize the political sensitivity of the matter so we have 
been very strict that there will be no news gathering on 
the VHF system. 

Mr. Chairman: Expenditure recoveries. I would 
like to refer you to page 210 at this point, Project Capi­
tal. Establishment 2005, $40,000.00, Territorial Ad­
ministration Building. 

Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes, the $40,000.00 to complete the 
landscaping, just exactly where is that going to take 
place? Is that somewhere around the back of the 
grounds here along the riverside? Is that what's plan­
ned? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, it's a revote of 
last year's funds, they couldn't finish the landsca~ing 
before the weather set in, so it's exterior landscapmg, 
some shrubs and trees and grass. Nice, real nice. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger : Yes, Mr. Chairman, it's justthat again, 
I was wondering if there are any plans in the wind of 
expanding this building and that this landscaping would 
be a little bit premature. Maybe we should wait 'til the 
expansion plans are made or have been made. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I don't know of any plans of 
expansion, maybe the Members are planning an expan­
sion of the Legislature and not letting me in on it, or 
something. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, it seems so obvious, I 
mean, just looking at our office space we hav~ as Me_m­
bers of the-Legislative Assembly, and now we re talkmg 
about expanding the Legislative Assembly, where are 
we going to put the Members? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: In the shrubs. 

Mr. Chairman: 2005, clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 2900, $324,200.00, Road Equipment. 
Mr. Taylor? 

Bon. Mr. Taylor: I look and I see, " to provide funds 
for the purchase of new equipment and to replace 
equipment which is obsolete and has no revenue po~en­
tial." I hope that the Minister in looking for the veh1cle 
for the Fire Chief, doesn't pick up something that's too 
old or too obsolete? 



-· 
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Mr. Chairman: Mr. Fleming? 

Mr. Fleming: Yes, Mr. Chairman , I hope the Hon­
ourable Member from Watson does get his vehicle . I 
find it very strsnge that any equipment that the De­
partment of Public Works would have no revenue poten­
tial whatsoever. I think you very seldom wear anything 
out completely before they set it aside and I'm wonder­
ing if you could just explain that as to why this has no 
revenue potential at all? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon ? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I really don 't 
know why that last line was put in because the only thing 
I can see it is to provide funds for the purchase of new 
equipment for the opening of the Carcross/Skagway 
road and it's for the maintenance camp of that road that 
the total new equipment is · two graders, two dump 
trucks, two pick-ups, a loader and a D-6 Cat, and how 
that has anything to do with the-- which is obsolete and 
has no revenue potential is , I don't know. I'd ask Mr. 
Williams if he has any further information. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, in addition to the 
equipment which the Minister just mentioned, there is 
also a provision in there for a car for municipal en­
gineering, a car for the corrections branch, and I be­
lieve, either two or probably three trucks for the game 
department and those are the ones that are meant when 
we talk about revenue potential. Most of the heavy 
equipment is bought out of capital, and then from that 
point on, the cost, the people who use that equipment 
pay so much per hour for using it and then that money 
goes back into the fund and rl!placements are bought out 
of that fund. 

With respect to the smaller vehicles held by ordinary 
departments, the cost of the vehicle is absorbed by capi­
tal and there are no. charges against the 0 & M so by no 
revenue charge, that just refers to the vehicles that are 
run by departments. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Yes, of this equipment, is there any 
equipment that's scheduled to be purchased that cannot 
be purchased through dealers in Yukon? Is there any 
specialized equipment that will be looked for from out­
side the Yukon? Like outside existing dealers? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: It appears that everything, the 
dump trucks are six yard, the pick-ups are half-ton, the 
loaders are 950 and the crawler Cat is a D-6, so it ap­
pears that they can be purchased through local dealers. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, it was my understand­
ing that at one time there was set up a revolving fund to 
replace equipment that was required for highway 
maintenance. Why would we be voting separate money 
now and not be just using, voting money for that revolv-
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ing fund? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: This is an equ ipment replace­
ment fund. This new equipment will be then part of the 
equipment replacement fund. New equipment has to be 
purchased but it's over and above the equipment that is 
in the replacement, the revolving replacement items 
that it has to have to get there originally. It has to have a 
line item budget as new equipment. 

Mrs. Watson : But you do say to replace equipment? 

Mr. Chairman: Yes. Mr. McKinnon ? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman , all the infor­
mation I have is that it 's the purchase of new equipment 
to the tune of $300 ,000.00 for the planned opening of the 
Carcross/Skagway road. I believe, and I'd like to know 
if my explanation is correct, on that type of new equip· 
ment, before it becomes part of the revolving equip­
ment fund, that we have to have the monies orginally for 
the new equipment. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I 
think the confusion is because there is basically two 
types of items under Establishment 2900. First of all, 
with respect to the Heavy Road Maintenance Equip­
ment, of that $324,000.00, $289,000.00 is being spent tl'l 

initially equip the Carcross/Skagway Road. Now, v 
that particular equipment -- when it's time for 
equipment to replace, it will be replac~d from the 1 c · 

volving fund , equipment replacement tevolving fund, 
but the initial costs from the line item in the budget-- the 
replacement which is referred to in the vote wording 
refers to the vehicles that are held by other depart­
ments, from Game trucks being replaced and the truck 
in Municipal Engineering being replaced, and one in 
Corrections, I believe, that's being replaced. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: I just want to again ask about the 
equipment replacement fund. I think I discussed that 
briefly when we were in the Supplementaries. And I just 
want to know for sure if in fact we do now have in place 
an equipment replacement fund , based on the usual 
criteria. Or is this something that you're thinking about 
doing? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: It is in place, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman. The other equip­
ment, Mr. Chairman, for the Game Department and the 
Department of Local Government, are they' paying rent 
on that equipment to the Department of Highways and 
Public Works or are they, that money, is that funding 
going to be replaced to this department again? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? ) 
Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I don 't know. 
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Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams? 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, if Mr. Berger is think­
ing of the situation where Local Go"ernment might use 
a highway's grader to do road maintenance in an unor­
ganized community, then the answer is yes, they do pay 
rent. They pay so much power for that equipment. But if 
you're thinking of ordinary cars that are held by other 
departments, the answer is no, the cost is paid for out of 
capital vote and then from that point on the only charge 
to the department is the actual 0 and M cost of running 
that car , the gas and oil and the maintenance. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I was referring to 
this Vote2900, and Mr. Williams was telling us that part 
of the money is being, going to be used to purchase 
four-by-fours for the Game Department and a car for 
the Department of Local Government and Correctionsn 
and I was wondering if this Department is going to pay 
rent for this equipment, because it is actually going to 
be coming out of the Vote 20, Highways and Public 
Works. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, the Establishment 
for the purchasing of this type of vehicle is pooled, just 
like, for instance, in the Establishment 2201, I believe it 
is, we pool everybody's office equipment. Similarly, for 
vehicles, all the vehicles are pooled into this one Estab­
lishment and bought from Establishment 2900. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I'm very curious 
about it now, because I think it would make much mo1 ;.; 
sense if each department has a budget as they have 
right now but pay their expenses out of it, all expenses, 
for the car pool and everything. Wouldn't it be possible, 
Mr. Chairman? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, the list of require­
ments does come from departments, and there's no 
reason, I suppose, why it can't be changed, but tradi­
tionally every department that needs a vehicle goes 
through the normal budgeting process identifying what 
vehicles they need, and then this list is compiled into one 
Establishment, called 2900. There would be nothing -­
For instance, in Local Government, we can have one 
Establishment for their one vehicle and in Game we 
could have one Establishment for their one vehicle. 
That could be done, but this is just being done on a 
consistent basis with other years. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, I think it would be more 
realistic in the figures for this House here when we look 
at the budget and see that there's so much money going 
to be spent on cars and travel. I mean, I know the main 
complaint that I receive from the Highway right now is 
that dozens and dozens of government vehicles are run-
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ning up and down the highway with one government 
officTal in it. I think if we -- if those departments could 
justify expenditures on that, I think that we could check 
it that much closer. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, I would just say that 
that is a good point. It is perhaps for that reason, in the 
Appendix we have always listed which departments are 
getting the vehicles. It is on page 33. But, as I say, there 
is no reason why we couldn't set up a separate Estab­
lishment for each Department. Traditionally, it has all 
been put into the one Establishment. I think that if, for 
no other reason, to assure a consistency of purchase, 
rather than four departments calling for tenders for 
cars separately, the Department of Highways and Pub­
lic Works will call a tender for cars. You don't get a 
department buying some car that can't be serviced in 
the Yukon. 

That is probably the reason why they have been 
pooled. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson? 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, that is very interest­
ing, that the Member from Klondike brought it up, and I 
am sure that the Member from Mayo remembers, be­
fore this system was put in, before you have your pool­
ing of cars, there was a great competition between each 
department of who could get the best car or have the 
most cars, a fleet of cars, and they not necessarily were 
all the same colour, and if nobody knew it was a gov­
ernment car maybe you could take your wife and kids 
out fishing on a Sunday. 

This is exactly the type of situation that existed quite a 
number of years ago, but it car'rexist if you leave it this 
way. That is why I think that the government has gone 
this route where they standardized the type of car that is 
required by the Department of Education and Welfare 
people, these people who are on the roads. They all get 
the same kinds of car. 

They have done the same thing with office furniture. 
The competition went on. One director would have a 
desk that big and another one would order one just a 
little bit bigger and another one would order one with 
just a little bit more exotic a book-case. It gets to be 
almost a ridiculous situation and so they standardized it 
and everyone has to go through a pool. 

I can remember when I first came into the -- as a 
representative, at that time, they were still buying their 
cars through their own departments and it was quite an 
interesting thing, the requests you used to get for vehi­
cles. I think although that this is a -- it regiments it, 
makes it bureaucratic , but I think the options to what we 
are doing now could be disastrous. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger : Mr. Chairman, I wasn't once suggest­
ing to get away from the pool. I was talking about that 
the different departments should pay for the use of the 
car to the pool. The thing is, they should be accountable 
for them because then the fundings --Mr. Williams told 
us there is no revenue potential. The thing is that if that 
money comes into the pool, this could be set up as re-



venue coming into the pool then. 

Mr. Cllairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, I think that goes to the 
question that I was asking the other day. I think that Mr. 
Williams did give me another answer on that, and that it 
goes to the equipment replacement fund. You charge 
each department an internal rental rate for the cars, 
say, and does that go into the fund as that registered 
as-it's really a bookkeeping entry. I think that you did 
mention to me that you did this with heavy equipment, 
but you are not doing it with cars and trucks and some of 
the smaller equipment and I think that this is probably 
what Mr. Berger was getting at. Have you considered 
doing this because if you look at--you know, I can think 
of industry again and other government departments 
that do in fact set up an equipment replacement fund on 
that very basis, even for the smallest item--I am not 
getting down to the hammers and saws and that kind of 
thing, any kind of-you know, what we would class as 
major pieces of equipment. There is an internal rental 
rate and this is costed against the department and you 
end up with a replacement fund and you know exactly 
when you replaced that car or piece of equipment with 
no problem whatsoever. 

Mr. Chairman: Yes, Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I'm totally confused, I thought 
that's exactly what the YTG did. I've got all kinds of 
money in all of my votes for monies that I have to pay for 
pool cars. A certain amount per mile that I have to pay 
everytime one of my inspectors goes on a trip, that is, 
part of my budget costS, that I have to pay pool car 
costs. And I understood this was all in place and that's 
what's happening. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Well,.that is exactly my concern, be­
cause the other day I didn't get that answer. I was told 
that we do not charge an internal charge towards cars 
and trucks. That this was happening with respect to the 
replacement equipment fund for the major equipment 
and I'm sure Mr. Williams is going to give me an ans­
wer. 

Mr. Chairman: Are you directing your question to the 
Minister, Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: I'm directing my question through the 
Chair, to the Minister and the Minister, I'm sure, will 
ask Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. . ,. 
Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: That's the way it is aild Mr. 
Williams can confirm it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. . . . . 
Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, vehicles are charged 

out on a per mile basis, the difference being for the 
heavy piect!s of construction equipment, the basis i~~ 
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eludes an allowance for overhead. Or rather, for depre­
ciation. For the smaller vehicles such as cars, the per 
mile rate does not include a factor for depreciation. 
There might be some merit in adding a depreciation 
factor into the pro car charge-out rate, but at the mo­
ment there is no depreciation factor built in. It's stri~tly 
an 0 and M factor, gas, oil, maintenance, that sort of 
thing. 

Mr. Chairman: Clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: Twenty-nine oh two. $112,000.00. Sun· 
dry Equipment. · 

Tw.enty-nine oh two, clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: Twenty-nine oh three. $20,000.00. 
Garage Tools and Equipment. 

Yes, Mr. Taylor. 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: What is involved in the $10,000.00 for 
the Metric Conversion? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, the substantia­
tion I have on my working sheets is that Establishment 
2904 is provided for the 'purchase of garage tools over 
and above the tools that each mechanic is required to 
own, for example, large wrenches, grinders, drills, 
compressors, pullers and such tools. Provision is also 
made in that establishment to re-tool due to metrication 
and I don't know what portion of the budget that is, but it 
means changing the inch wrenches to a metric wrench. 

Mr. Chairman: Twenty-nine oh three, clear? 

Some Members: Clear. · 

Mr. Chairman: Twenty-nine oh four, $17~,ooo·.oo, VHF 
Radio Communication System. 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, could I address a ques­
tion to the Minister, to Mr. Williams? When are we 
actually finished paying for the VHF system. I've been 
here almost three years and we seem to always have a 
line item. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hoa. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I am assured by 
the B"irector that this is the final, 'final charge' phase of 
the VHF system and the only items that we1ll be seeing 
in Capital for it is the provision of the actual radio signal 
into additional vehicles as we purchase them. I'm from 
Missouri and I probably believe hin;1, Mr .. Chail'man. 

. Mr. Chairman: r.tr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger:· Mr. Chairman, I .was j'ul!t wonde(irik if 
the 'Honourable Minister could tell tis ~here th.e new 
installations· ar~ going · to be or if th~y have any .o~Mt 
new installations planned? Esp~iaJiy: ~ong the P,e-
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mpster Highway? 

Mr: Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Yes, Mr. Speaker, the work plan 
for this year on the completion of the VHF communica­
tions system on the Dempster Highway, the relocation 
of the Peel Ridge and conversion to propane heating, the 
installation of a bay station and mobiles at the Eagle 
River camp, the installation of a mobile coverage and 
trunk equipment at Rat Pass and the installation of four 
wire terminations at Dawson City. 

On the Skagway road an im:tallation of a new repeater 
for mobile coverage and trunking to Caribou , the con­
version of Caribou to a back to back repeater and the 
installation of base station and mobiles at the Fraser­
Skagway road camps. On the Dawson-Keno highway, 
the change-out of coverage antenna at Minto and the 
relocation of repeater from Miller's Ridge to Berdoe. 
The Campbell Highway, the relocation of mobile an­
tenna at Salmon to the new CNT Tower and the change 
out of equipment at Salmon from R.F. electronics to 
Micore and an associated frequency change from F-2 to 
F-4. 

On the Canol road, the extension of mobile coverage 
along the South Canol road, two mountain top repeaters 
will be required, the reconfiguration of Hayes Peak site 
to the terminal to a back to back trunk repeater, the 
overall system testing and performance verification 
and the revision of the operator's handbook. The 
equipment related cost breakdown to $70,000.00, the in­
stallation related cost to $53,000.00, project manage­
ment and engineering $37,000.00, contingency $16,000.00 
for a total of $176,000.00 which will bring the grand total 
of the finished VF communication system this year to 
$1,363,532.00. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. 13erger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, now since we have 
such an elaborate system, and a good system, I was 
wondering if we could use this particular system to 
provide radio coverage in some sommunities, espe­
cially through CBC? 

Mr. Chairman: 2904, Clear? 

Mr. Berger: I didn't get an answer, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

· Hoa.'MJo; McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, as far as I ki}ow, 
I don't think that the system can be used for the pro.vi­
slon Qf,CBC Radio to the communities of Pelly and Old 
<(row. ·· · 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berg~r? 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, the CBC tells 'nie on CBC 
TeJevision tha.t. they have a very high frequency radio 
erogr!lm on ~~ort wa;ve and I wa~ .wondering i~ this 
sy$tem cou\d,, ~~ave ~ever heard of 1t m the Nqrth, ~n the 
Yukon; I was wondering if this program .cou~l be inc.or­
por'ated under this system? 

Mr. Chair~~:. You probably won't hear it , Mr. 
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Berger, it probably only goes about one mile from the 
stut1io and that's why it's short wave. 2904, Clear? Mr. 
McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I have friends in the communi­
cations consulting business and I'll certainly pose the 
question to them. 

Mr. Chairman: 2904, Clear? 

Some Members : Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 2906, $75,000.00 Highway Mainte­
nance Complex, Eagle River. Mr. Berger? 

Mr. Berger: Yes, Mr. Chairman, I was going to ask 
the same question I think I asked before. What kind of 
camps are they going to be? It is my understanding 
they're going to be an elaborate set-up. Game Depart­
ment, Forestry, RCMP, and Highway Maintenance and 
possibly a private lodge or so, maybe the Minister could 
elaborate on that. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: We don't have any working 
plans as yet, Mr. Chairman. As you see, it is for the 
pre-engineering work for the construction. 

We are looking at a major maintenance camp which 
will include staff quarters, dining and recreational 
facilities, equipment repair and storage as well as 
overnight and dining accommodations which is to be 
used for the travelling public. 

It will be planned at the Eagle River, at this strategic 
point between Inuvik and Dawson City. The date of the 
project completion, as of this time, is set for 1980, Mr. 
Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 
t't 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, in those plans what are 
you using for projections as to the required manpower 
in that camp. What is going to be the capacity of person­
nel? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I don't have a 
personnel breakdown of what the Eagle River camp will 
consist of and I'm sure the engineering can give me 
those figures though. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger? 
:j 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, that probably will be a 
gas pump up in there for the use of the public and will 
that gas be imported f!om the Northwest Territories, 
because it is probably cheaper than coming all the way 
up from Whitehorse. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr, McKinnon. 
' 

Hoa. Mr. McKinnon: Wherever the price is best, Mr. 
Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: 2906, Clear? 



Some Members : Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 2907 , $30,000.00, F encing-Watson 
Lake Compound. Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: I was just wondering, Mr. Chairman , 
how high a fence they are going to erect around Watson 
Lake? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: It would be 2500 feet and 12 feet 
high. 

(Laughter) 

Mr. Chairman: 2907--Clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 2908, $750,000.00, Highway Mainte­
nance Complex--Skagway Road. Yes, Mrs. Whyard? 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard: I know I am not supposed to be 
asking questions, Mr. Chairman, but I meant to get to 
this this morning when we were discussing highways in 
general and we were closed off at noon. I wonder if I 
could just take a moment to ask if the Minister could tell 
us whether there will be any-or whether there has been 
any plans made yet, regarding customs clearance on 
that road. If so, whether the customs people will be at 
the border or back at Carcross or whether they will be in 
Whitehorse, or perhaps the Federal Department hasn 't 
notified us yet. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : Well , Mr . Speaker, in this new 
ecum~nical age that we are living in, the customs have 
alrea,dy stated that they will be a part of the complex 
and ther e is a twenty by twenty four area in the building 
for customs at the Highway Maintenance complex at 
Fraser. It will include office and living quarters for 
Canada Customs as well as our Highway Maintenance 
people'. 

Hon. Mrs. Whyard : Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor? 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: Yes, Mr. Chairman, some--not too 
long ago but some weeks ago, I heard a report on the 
local media, radio media that there was some sugges­
tion th,at the government were perplexed over whether 
or not this road was going to be a commercial road or a 
tourist road and it has always been my understanding 
from the day we started building this highway that it is 
was going to be open for everybody and everything. 

Is there, in fact, a question as reported by the media 
that there is some question between as to whether it is 
going to be a rectional, a tourist type road or a commer­
~ial traffic to be allowed on i~ or something.along this 
lme? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 
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Hon. Mr. McKinnon : Mr. Chairman, if the Honoura­
ble Member belieives what he hears on the radio that is 
his problem, not mine but this is a road that is going to be 
open to everyone. 

Hon. Mr. Taylor : That just goes to show you that you 
can 't believe what you hear on the radio these days. 

Mr. Chairman: That is very true. Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Yes. Mr. Chairman, on that same road, 
what will the maximum load allowance be on this par­
ticular highway? 

Mr. Chairman : Mr. McKinnon? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I'll have to seek out engineer­
ing advice on that one. You've got me. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, that very question 
there, that could very well limit the kind of use that's 
going to be made of that road , if in fact, your bridges are 
of such a rating a:td if in fact the road bed itself has been 
constructed in such a way that it is going to limit certain 
traffic. It would be very interesting to find out what the 
bridge ratings are on that. I wonder if we could have 
that? 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs'. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, the Highway mainte­
nance complex on the Skagway road, I refer to Page 4 of 
the address this morning, and it states a facility will 
include employee accommodation and office space for 
Canada Customs. Will the complex also include emp­
loyee accommodations for people who are working on 
the maintenance, working at the camp and will the emp­
loyee accommodation, if it is to be located there, will it 
be built by the Housing Corporation as all other emp­
loyee accommodation is being done at the present time? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McKinnon. 

Hon. Mr. McKi110on : The living quarters will be a 
part of the total complex and it will be given in a single 
contract for the total complex at Fraser. The living 
quarters of the complex that will comprise a 40 by 96 
area , 7,680 feet , so it 's quite extensive. 

Mr. Ci)airman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I'm trying to deter­
mine, if the complex is going to be there for employees, 
whether the Housing Corporation will be in fact in­
volved with the planning of the complex and whether 
they will be in charge of the administration of the emp­
loyee housing at that location? And also, at Ute camp 
that's going to. be constructed at the Depster or are we 
going to make a difference for those employees who are 
living in those two stations? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon : I don't know the answer to that 
one. I'll find out, Mr. Chairman. 

( 

( ) 



Mr. Chairman: Mr. Berger. 

Mr. Berger: Mr. Chairman, I think the Honourable 
Member from Kluane is completely wrong .. I mean, the 
camps do not belong to the Yukon Housing Corporta­
tion, the camp facilities, they all belong to Highways 
and Public Works . 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 

Mrs. Watson: Mr. Chairman, I believe that in all of 
the maintenance camps, the Housing Corporation, 
they 've been turned over to the - the homes have been 
turned over to the Housing Corporation and they ad­
minister and do the maintenance and provide the 
utilities and everything. 

Where is the Minister, I hope he knows. Maybe the 
witnesses might know? 

u. 
Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: Mr. Chairman, where bunkhouse 
type of accommodation is provided, it's administered 
by the Department of Highways and those costs are 
included in the cost of the Highways and they're reco­
vered under the cost shared program. I believe where 
there's self-contained single family residents, I believe 
they have been turned over to the Housing Corporation. 

I Mr. Chairman: Mr. Taylor. 

Hon. Mr. Taylor: I'll just go one bit further than 
that. I believe that the camps at Tuchitua where you just 
have one or two dwellings, in the small camps, I think 
this still comes under control of the Department of Pub­
lic Works, as far as I know. At least they're the ones 
maintaining them. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Williams. 

Mr. Williams: In that particular case I think that's 
true. By and large the distinction is though that the 
single family residences have been turned over to the 
Housing Corporation and bunkhouses are maintained 
by Highways. 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson : 

Mrs. Watson: I wonder why the Highway Mainte­
nance complex on the Skagway road, which would be 
how many miles from Whitehorse, not that great a dis­
tance, why would it be a bunkhouse type of operation? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: It won't be permanent family 
accommodations, Mr. Chairman. It will be a seasonal 
road at the beginning and it will be people who will just 
be working there during the week and undoubtedly re­
turning to Whitehorse during the weekend. We don't 
intend to set up a separate Yukon village at Fraser. We 
don't want to get into that problem if we can help it. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, when is it anticipated 
that work will commence on the camp and when is the 
completion date? 
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Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, we expect to let 
the contract and spend the entire $750,000.00 during this 
fiscal year, so I would imagine that we would hope that 
it would be pretty well in place by fall of this year. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, I don't particularly 
like going back, but we were talking of the Highway 
Maintenance Camp and I did have a question on 2906 
and that was the maintenance complex at Eagle River. 
It is $75,000.00 to provide funds to commence pre­
engineering work for the construction, is that pre­
engineering work, is that done by private consultants, 
or is that an in-house engineering? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: These major complexes are 
done by consultants or architectural firms. We don' t 
have our own architect on staff any longer, or our own 
draftsmen and the reason being that we don't have that 
many major capital projects around any longer so this 
will be done by an engineer-architect. 

Mr. Chairman: 2908 has been stood over pending 
further information. 2908, are we clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: 2909, $50,000.00, Building Conting­
ency Fupd. Mr. McCall? 

Mr. McCall: Yes, I'm just curious about this par­
ticular item. The letter in there, " it says to carry out 
miscellaneous and minor items of a capital nature 
which cannot be foreseen during the preparation of the 
estimates." What is this a supplementary of the main 
estimates? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, things come up 
during the course of a year. The Honourable Member, 
Mrs. Whyard, decided that she coul~ save the taxpayers 
a lot of money, instead of going to a major project of 
building an additional wing or an extension on the 
Whitehorse Correction Institute, by doing some minor 
renovations and increasing the capacity of the Correc­
tional Institute. 

Originally it appeared that we were going to be looking 
at a cost of some half a million dollars for a major 
expansion program and because we could keep it in­
House and do some minor renovations, a considerable 
saving will come about. These things just happen con­
stantly in government. 

Instead of staying on in the Wood Street laboratory in 
the Game Department, we've got a building which was 
surplus to other needs down in the Territorial Com­
pound which was a large area, which is a place wl)~re 
you can store game, where you can hold trapper 
schools, and rather than continue at the high expense of 
the Wood Street property, which is a valuable property, 
with $5,000.00 in renovations, we can have a real dan 
good game workshop in quarters down in the YTG com­
pound. We didn't know that building was going to cQme 
open, it was going to be available for a use such of that 
nature, so I don't think it's unreasonable to have a 
$50,000.00 fund which is flexible to take advantage of 
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those situations when they do come up in a $70,000,000.00 hers. 
busine~s. which government is. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McCall? 

Mr. McCall: Considering those two points that you 
have just put forward, and the amount of money you 
have tabled under this particular item or estimate, I'm 
just wondering whether it is enough, because if they 
are going to move the laboratory up to another building, 
maybe we should convert the building we have now to a 
senior citizens home, I don't know. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: That's one of the ideas. We 
hope so, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: 2909, are we clear? 

Some Members : Agreed. 

Mr. Chairman: 2910, Pre-Engineering Territorial 
Projects, $100,000.00. Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: Again, this pre-engineering, is this 
done by outside firms or is this in-house? If it's in-house, 
how many man hours are represented? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I believe that 
this is the in-house item and this is the area in which we 
are doing the planning over the winter months and the 
collection of data which our surveyors and engineers 
have collected during the summer and planning the 
next year's construction projects. As far as I under­
stand, this is completely recoverable under the En­
gineering Services Agreement and it was put in because 
we had an awful problem in past years in getting out our 
tenders and contracts early enough to take advantage of 
a total year's contract. 

Mr.1Chairman: Clear? 
Tw~nty-nine eleven, Recreation Roads, $15,000.00. 

Mr. Berger : Mr. Chairman, I was wondering how 
one dE!clares a recreation road? I mean there's a couple 
of roads in the Dawson ar~a that could stand being on 
the list of recreation roads and I was wondering what 
one has to do to declare this a recreation road? 

;) 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, 6,00o of these 
dollars is allocated to the Blind Creek Road and the 
reason it's there is because the Honourable Member 
from Pelly mounted an effective lobbying with me, so I · 
imagine this is how it's done. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McCall. 

Mr. McCall: So, whatthe Minister js actually saying 
is that you stomp around in his office a couple of mont~~; . 

Mr. Chairman: Mrs. Watson. 
' 

Mrs. Watson: DoestheMinisterknowwherethey're · 
going to put the boat ramps? . . 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: No, Mr. Chairman, and we're 
always open to suggestions from all Honourable Mem-

Mr. Chairman: Clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: Two nine one four, Whitehorse 
Workshop Extension, $40,000.00. 

Mr. Berger? 

·Mr. Berger : Yes, Mr. Chairman, I was wondering if 
they were going to install the sewer along the Quartz 
Road first , before they start paving around the Work­
shop? 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lengerke. 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Chairman, I see the subject of 
paving here and I was wondering maybe the Minister 
could tell me if the Department are thinkir or have 
given some consideration to getting into the paving bus­
iness themselves, into a batch plant and into that type of 
facility in view of the fact that we do have more paving 
going on in the Territory? 

I'm just asking that, and it may be a leading question 
but I know that -- I also know that we have private 
enterprise in that business, but I was just wondering, 
I've heard rumours that the Territorial Government 
are thinking of getting into that? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I've never heard the matter 
considered, Mr. Chairman, and I don't even think that I 
heard the question. 

Mr. Chairman: Clear? 
Two nine one five, Sewer Installation- Quartz Road, 

$100,000.00. 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chair:man: Two nine one six, Weigh Scales, 
$18,000.00. 

Mr. McCall. 

Mr. McCall: What is this particular item for? I was 
just wondering if the Minister could advise us on it, Mr. 
Chairman? · . 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, the scales at 
Whitehorse, Watson Lake and Haines Junction are to be 
converted to the metric system in line with the Go:v~rn­
ment of Canada's planned program for 1978: The three 
stations will cost $1;000.00 each 'for $3,000.00 and the 
biggest cost is the provision to pJJrs:has~ weights to be 
used in calibr~ting and checking sc;des by the Inspec~~r. 
of Weights and M~asur~. and I 'm ~nforme~ that one set 
of 20 v/ei~.t)~~ COS't$ $J5,01)0.00. 

' ' 
Mr. McCall: I guess my information is incorrect 

then, Mr. Chairman, that there was a <!Qnsidered ~x­
pansion in this particular weigh s~;ales at Whitehors~. 
here in order to accommodate the large, capacity ,vo.l­
ume that White Pass is doing. That is the ore concen­
trate . 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: Mr. Chairman, I see nothing in 

( 

) 

) 
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the capital part of Highways and Public Works' budget 
for a conversion of an expansion of the Whitehorse 
Weigh Scale and, if such a conversion is necessary, I'd 
be pleased if the Honourable Member would provide me 
with the information. 

Mr. Chairman: Two nine one six, clear? 
Two nine one seven, Building Maintenance Work­

shop, $40,000.00. Mr. Lengerke? 

Mr. Lengerke: How big a facility will that be for 
$40,000.00? 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I don't have any actual sizes in 
my worksheets, Mr. Chairman. The information that I 
had that the Building Maintenance personnel perma­
nently located in areas outside of Whitehorse, it is 
necessary to construct small shops for equipment and 
storage of materials for small work projects in connec­
tion with repairs to government buildings on a regional 
base. This will provide funds to move a GP hut from 
Whitehorse to Dawson City and for suitable alterations, 
depending on if you know what the size of the G P hut is. 

Mr. Lengerke: The reason I asked the question is 
because the. $40,000.00 doesn't represent -- you know, 
you couldn't put up much of a building for that. It exp­
lains it then if they're moving another building. That's 
fine. 

Mr. Chairman: Two nine one seven- are we clear? 

Some Members: Clear. 

Mr. Chairman: Vote Number 9, $17,269,400.00. 
Clear? 

Some Members : Agreed. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lang, are you prepared to in­
troduce the Yukon Housing Corporation budget? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: Mr. Chairman, I was under the opin­
ion that we wouldn't be getting into the Yukon Housing 
Corporation this afternoon. I would like to have Mr. 
Schneider and Mr. Owens, who is Chairman of the Hous­
ing Corporation, here as witnesses. It is the Territorial 
Crown Corporation and I think we should start treating 
it as independent from government and the ·Chairman 
should be answering for the Board in relation to ad­
ministration matters as they pertain to the Housing 
programs that are implemented in the Yukon. So I don't 
know what Committee's wish is, whether they want to 
go into tbe Recreation Ordinance or what other business 
you would like to pursue, Mr. 9h~irman. I I 

···Mr. Chairman: I don't think it would be very wise to 
get into the Recreation .Ordinance at .this time of the 
day 1 because I'm sure that'it will last longer ttlan the 
fifteen or twenty minutes we have available. Mr. 
Berger? 

Mr. Berger: 1 Just a questioh, Mr. Chairman; under 
this VQte, I see that the Commissioner is l)ead .of 'the 
Yi,lkon Housing Corpor!ltion. I wonder jf t.hat'~ tru~?. 

I I ~ • l 
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Mr. Chairman: Mr. Lang? 

Hon. Mr. Lang: I don't know what Committee 
wishes, Mr. Chairman, whether or not they want to go 
back to a particular vote that we've gone over or what­
ever. 

Mr. Chairman: I think we'll call it a day if you're not 
prepared to go into it. It's too late in the day to start an 
Ordinance. 

Hon. Mr. McKinnon: I understand that there are 
quite a few of us that want to get a committee meeting 
going as quickly as possible and I'd sure appreciate it if 
we could get into that as quickly as possible. I would 
appreciate it if we could ask Mr. Speaker to resume the 
Chair, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. Chairman: Mr. McCall? 

Mr. McCall: Yes, I would move that Mr. Speaker 
now resume the Chair. 

Mr. Fleming: I second that. 

Mr. Chairman: It has been moved by Mr. McCall, 
seconded by Mr. Fleming, that Mr. Speaker do now 
resume the Chair. Are you ready for the question? 

Some Members: Question. 

Mr. Chairman: Are you agreed? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Chairman: The motion is carried. 

(Motion carried) 

(Mr. Speaker resumes the Chair J 

I • 

It 

Mr. Speaker: I will now call the House to ord~r. May 
we have a report from the Chairman of Committees? 

Mr. Hibberd: Mr. Speaker, the Committee of the 
Whole considered Bill Number 2, First Approp,riation 
Ordinance 197'1-78 and directs me to report progr.ess on 
same. 1 

Committee has also considered Resolution Number 11 
respecting legalized gambling and directed me to re­
port the same with amendments. 

The Committee have also asked leave to sit ~gain . 
. I 

Mr. Speaker: You have heard the reportcpf the 
Chairman of Committees, are you agreed? r. 

Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Speaker: Leave is so granted. May I have your 
furttier .pleasure? The Honourable Membe~ . from 
Whitehorse Riverdale? 

} 

Mr. Lengerke: Mr. Speaker, I move that we do now 
call it 5 o'clo<;k. 

,' 
Ms. Millard: I second that. 

'· 



Mr. Speaker: It has been moved by the Honourable 
Member from Whitehorse Riverdale and seconded by 
the Honourable Member from Ogilvie that we do now 
call it 5 o'clock. Are you prepared for the question? 

Some Members: Question. 

Mr. Speaker: Are you agreed? 

Some Members: Agreed. 

Mr. Speaker: I shall declare that the motion is car­
r ied. · 

(Motion carried) 

Mr. Speaker: This House now stands adjourned 
untillO a.m. Monday next. 

r Adjourned) 
I !'• 
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depert .. nt .._,the! oprortunlty to ro.pll•IC' .1n hltt'n•lv•• lh'nl,or rltl,.-u 
vtshln& ' ' dtfo\111 to deto•r•lnC' housl n~t •nd ntht•r ••·••d• ch.1t ••·11 t.•r cltl7o·••" 
NY have. Thla 111rvey wal!l In fact lfllt l.n,•.J hy tho• l!lt.1ff nf lilY .Jo•p .lrt.,·nt 
prior to th• •cion rr•11rnt•d to chi " llr•tul,• to " hlch I .1111 ,. ... r.,nd ln)O. 
It I I IIII.Jio rtant that o11r 1•\11nnln j; ft•r h 'nh•r dt t u •n,. , t•·•n l.:u l.•r l •• In tlw 
arC'el of IM>11II na :and In lt•rvleo.•• In tl~·tr ovu "'*''• ah.•uld hC' h ...... ·d ''!\ 11 ... 
MC'd l e1 pcrr"elvcod b)" senlt•r c ltl:tC' IIS thr••••l•"'li r;~th.•r ch:tn th~· ""' ' ' " ·'" 
tc'tUivd llr tnJhldu:th wlw viii nt>l bC' r~·dph•nt " of tht' l''"t::r·••· h '" 
IIIJ departwnt'a klhf tiMt &C'rlous .:rrora t .ll n b..• ..ado• by pl.1nl'llnr. •'n .111 .1.1 t ..... 
blah end It ta Jlllrticu11H iy lllflorumt In th•• Yut.t~n to pl .111 fnr ••'" "''" ' 
n~todl e h e r rond~o~ctlnc a cnreful ~u rVC'Y. Tht· lnfo r-.1cl on hl.•fun• mt• .H rr••,;,·nc 
h thet thtl 111rvoy 1ho!.i l d be c0111pl"ted ulthln th•• n~xt thr.•f' to fnur ..,.,,h,., 

~) ( 

2. 1 l~ld uk.C' It elear thnt che lleHart:' lrMeh l11 Mt tl'llpon•U•I" for tin• 
opare tloft of ••nlor chh,·na ' i)(OI.I III nc . with tl~oe toxrt'rthm of thC' opo.utlun of 
the tvo Lod li,f&, n3Mel)" :!.IC,, III·I)" Lodli,t' nnd Hdk•n.,ld Lod~:,e. 'I'C'\1 will ti(Ho' th.n 
1ft the lprln& of l.llst yv:ar dhC'IIIlliona tn.•k. pl:tr"C' "'h i C'I• roflcl"d"d 1.1tlh the 
trenlfer o f Alt•altndC'f St rf'rt S.nlflr Cit h e n•' H(*C' to the IIUtlf' ICCI of Yulon 
Mous l n' Corper.atlon . l:pon co.pl~tlon or tho.- .:urYt')' r..-prdlnc lk"nlor rltlh•n.t ' 
nC'tds , h 11 tht' I ntention of • Y dvp.ntacont to r•''""" dllirUIItll on• "'hh Yul.un 
Houalnp; Corpnr.ltlon f("ll,.llr.tlnr:t tho: Jl•'llli lbh t011.e-uvo•r :.C :11'1\•n.lld l.•ldr:r. In ) 
v i e,.. o f t hl., , I penon.1ll)" l1;,v.- hcl.t dt.•c<~t~IIIOI\11 "'''"a "'l'"'"•'tii .Hho• ftllll! 
C.H.K.c .• l'rillt't' ~rce, in tl>f' l:••t f.•.., _.,ntlui. ao.-.- aorr 1 11.ho~ll ··•1•h•>~ho• 

thee W do nett villi to ruah Into .11ny .uranJ,e.t:"nt .,.lth l'ulton t••utlln.:, Coq•l"lr.uinl 
Mfore c-ph•t ion or tht! au no)" . It 111 ,.OIIIIblo th.1t thf' h'llllltll of tl14' 
auf'tC')" ~o~lll lr.-d 111 co tht' tondulltlll thi\t Htl!vn.-ld 1~!:" vouhl ltt•ttvr •~rv~· 
th o e._,.nh'J 31 e •lllt l-rllf\101~ f:attllty to IIIUC'I ctu.• n..-~dll uf ll••n lnr citt,,•,hc 
end Othon uthf'r th.1n :til • uraJchtfor~o~;~r.t n•aldt'ntbl lltu.u !..:111. 

), Aaaln 1 would re,..ll t th.1t Jt 11 the Intention of •1 d ep.:lrti!M!tlt to bc'coae 
involved In tho co-ordtn~tlon of •wrvlc•• to senior clchonl, pllrttc·11lo1rly 
hi tke ..... J !•·r co-uult le!ll end •Lhh wlll of couue Involve other d cpllrt-nU 
111ch e• Yukon 1\o\ls l n& f".orroret lon, non-profit Of l'nlutlonl , lncllen Affelra, 
nethe or,<~nlutton• ;an.d eny othc·ra IIHerl'su-d. So-e or thll co-ordlnratlon 
wil l I n fact be: uUnr. p l nee d,,tna the aurvC'y INt the dC"tdle:d pla11nlna In 
reaard co aenlore' ho11llint rroara•l e!WI other scrvl<"•• will c- e bout e1 
I U llllt or ln forNtlon Jllthllrc:4 by thl llltYe:)'. 

'· It 11 tho phllo.,oph)" or •'I d•pertiiiCnt co e n•u ret thll fut11n proare•• ll"ld 
edulna pro,r-• viii btl 'loMC'd aftd ade,ud wlthifl ~rtd 1.1lth0\lt covernMnt 
hovllln& end lfl ocher proJ.re• ~roa!li co proaou end ensure the I ndependence of 
O\lr aenlors. Hovever, I will rclureu tha t •Y dape rtMnt be lieves thee 
thelfl proarelllll 1h0uld bo dovelopod b )" the tnvohcMnt of SflfllOU In the 
plennln& and ah011 ld bo ae:..red to MC't the Medii or 1enlon es nt.n b)" untorl 
~tnd ftOt ea ltl'fCt'lvC'd by othus. 

ln •~o~-ar)", •Y d OII:Irtaont will pr oduee b)" the end of the su•er e report Ofl the 
netdlll o f e U old I'I:OIIle •• p<'rceive:d b)" unlor ~!then• the•lt~lve e end toaether 
wit h thll report wi ll prut'nt to 111e p r o,ra• Ideas and IIIJICitlons, so.. of ~o~hlck 
c1n H Initiated 1-..lletely and soae lolhlch -Y telte aore caref11l plennlna. 
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